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Docket Nos. CV05-4000409 and CV03-0004219 (Judicial District of Tolland)
RONALD TAYLOR
V. : STATE OF CONNECTICUT
COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTION

APPELLATE COURT
GEORGE M. GOULD
V. : MARCH 22, 2010

COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTION

MOTION FOR REVIEW OF COURT’S RULING THAT AUTOMATIC
STAY PROVISIONS OF PRACTIGE BOOK § 61-11 DO NOT APPLY

Pursuant to Practice Book § 66-6, the respondent-commissioner hereby moves this
Court for review of the habeas court’s ruling that the automatic stay provisions of Practice
Book § 61-11 do not apply to its judgment in this case. The habeas court's determination
that its judgment is exempt from the automatic stay provisions and its order directing the
respondent to immediately and unconditionally release the petitioners from confinement
is in direct contravention of the provisions of § 61-11. Accordingly, this motion for review
should be granted and the habeas court's order should be vacated to the extent that it
~ holds that the automatic stay provisions of § 61-11 do not apply. In addition, this Court
should direct the habeas court to conduct further proceedings in this case regarding the
stay imposed by § 61-11(a) in compliance with the provisions of § 61-11(c).

I BRIEF HISTORY OF THE CASE .6\5(35
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the first degree, in violation of General Statutes §53a-134; attempted robbery in the first
degree, in violation of General Statutes §§ 53a-134 and 53a-49; and conspiracy to commit
robbery in the first degree, in violation of General Statutes §§53a-134 and 53a-48 in the
Judicial District of New Haven. After trial by jury, the petitioners were found not guilty of
murder but guilty of all other charges. On April 7, 1995, the trial court, Fracasse, J.,
sentenced each petitioner to a total effective sentence of imprisonment for eighty years.
The petitioners appealed their convictions separately to the Connecticut Supreme Court.
The Supreme Court consolidated their appeals and affirmed the convictions on May 20,

1997. State v. Gould, 241 Conn. 1 (1997).

Thereafter, the petitioners filed habeas corpus petitions pursuant General Statutes
§52-466(a) and Practice Book § 23-21 et seq. In their habeas petitions, the petitioners
claimed that they had been denied their right to the effective assistance of counsel and that
they were actually innocent of the crimes of which they were convicted. }On March 17,
2010, following a joint hearing, the habeas court, Fuger, J., denied the petitioners’ claim
of ineffective assistance of counsel but found that they had established thaf they were
actually innocent. Memorandum of Decision, dated March 17, 2010, Taylor v.

Commissioner of Correction. Docket No. CV05-4000409; and Gould v. Commissioner of

Correction, Docket No. CV03-0004219, Judicial District of Tolland (Exhibit A).

The habeas court granted the petitions and ordered that the sentences imposed on
the petitioners, the verdicts of guilty at their trials, the results of their hearings in probable
cause and the arrest warrants issued for their arrest be set aside and vacated.
Memorandum of Decision at 58. On March 22, 2010, the respondent filed petitions for

certification to appeal in both cases pursuant to General Statutes §52-470(b).
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. SPECIFIC FACTS RELIED UPON
In its decision granting the petitioners’ habeas corpus petitions, the habeas court
stated that:
In the instant matter, an automatic stay of this court’s judgment would negate
both the fundamental purpose of the Great Writ and have the effect of
transforming meaningful relief into further illegal confinement. The
disposition of this case as law and justice require, following this court’s full
inquiry into the cause of imprisonment, must result in the immediate release
of the petitioners as there is no cause for imprisonment.
(Emphasis in original.) Memorandum of Decision at 57. In support of this conclusion, the

habeas court cited the opinion of the New York Court of Appeals in People ex rel. Sabatino

v. Jennings, 246 N.Y. 258, 158 N.E. 613 (1927). The court, therefore, explicitly held that
“there is no automatic stay barring the petitioners’ immediate and unconditional release.”
Memorandum of Decision at 58. Consequently, the habeas court ordered the respondent
to “immediately and unconditionally release the petitioners from confinement.” (Emphasis
in original.) Id.
lll. LEGAL GROUNDS RELIED UPON

The habeas court held that the automatic stay provisions of Practice Book § 61-11
do not apply to its decision granting the petitioners habeas corpus relief on their claims of
actual innocence. When the plain language of § 61-11 and the decisions of other
Connecticut courts that have ruled on the issue are considered, however, it is clear that the
habeas court erred in holding that the automatic stay provisions do not apply in this case.

Practice Book § 61-11(a) provides in relevant part that “[e]xcept where otherwise
provided by statute or other law, proceedings to enforce or carry out the judgment or order

shall be automatically stayed until the time to take an appeal has expired. If an appeal is




filed, such a proceeding shall be stayed until the final determination of the cause.” There
is no statutory exception concerning stays in habeas actions, and the respondent is
unaware of any “other law” which would controvert the plain language of § 61-11(a).
Contrary to the habeas court’s ruling, its order granting the petitioners habeas relief was
automatically stayed until the time to take an appeal had expired. The time for taking an
appeal in this case is twenty days from the habeas court’s action on the respondent’s
petition for certification pursuant to General Statutes §52-470(b). See Practice Book §63-1.

Other Connecticut courts considering the issue have concluded that the automatic

stay provisions apply in habeas corpus proceedings. See, e.g. Redway v. Warden, 13

Conn. Supp. 240 (1945) (court admitted to bail habeas petitioner after concluding that
execution of an order of discharge following habeas judgment shall be stayed by Practice
Book rule until final determination of appeal by the Supreme Court of Errors); Moulthrop
v. Walker, 12 Conn. Supp. 35 (1942) (Practice Book rule concerning stay of execution of
judgment applies to habeas corpus judgments). An order granting a habeas petition based
upon a claim of actual innocence is no different from the judgment in any other habeas
case and, therefore, should be equally subject to the automatic stay provisions. See Henry
v. Warden, 2009 WL 415590, 1 (Conn. Super., 01/22/09, dos Santos, J.) (“In accordance
with Practice Book § 61-11(a), a habeas court’s judgment is automatically stayed during
the pendency of the appeal unless the stay is terminated in accordance with § 61-11(c)
and (d).”)

The habeas court's reliance on the decision of the New York Court of Appeals in

People ex rel. Sabatino v. Jennings, supra, is misplaced. The statutory scheme that was




atissue in Jennings bears little resemblance to the provisions of Practice Book § 61-11.
In Jennings, the Court of Appeals noted that the warden had “relied upon section 570 of
the Civil Practice Act, which provides that ‘upon an appeal taken by the People of the State
or by a state officer . . . the service of notice of appeal perfects the appeal and stays the
execution of the judgment . . . .” Jennings, 246 N.Y. at 259. The court concluded,
however, that section 570 had “no application to appeal by a state officer from an order
directing the unconditional discharge of a prisoner upon a writ of habeas corpus.” Id., at
259-60. Rather, the court concluded that:

The pertinent section in such a situation is section 1269, which provides that

“A prisoner who has been discharged by a final order made upon a writ of

habeas corpus or certiorari shall not be again imprisoned, restrained, or kept

in custody, for the same cause.

Jennings, supra, 260. Because the statute on which the New York Court of Appeals

based its decision has no counterpart in Connecticut law, Jennings lends no support to the
habeas court’s ruling.

The Jennings court did state in dicta that “[a] statute suspending the effect of the
discharge by mere force of an appeal would be at war with the mandate of the Constitution
whereby the writ of habeas corpus is preserved in all its ancient plenitude.” Jennings, 246
N.Y.at261. Sixty years before Jennings was decided, however, the Connecticut Supreme

Court of Errors reached a contrary conclusion. In MacReady v. Wilcox 33 Conn. 321

(1866), the Connecticut court held that a stay of a habeas corpus order during an appeal
did not violate the United States Constitution. In MacReady, the petitioner claimed that his
case was not “subject of review, from the fact that the delay occasioned thereby is in

conflict with the provisions of the constitution of the United States which declares that ‘the




privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended . . . .” MacReady, 33 Conn.
at 329. The court rejected the petitioner’s claim, stating that:

The constitution has reference to a state of things in which the courts of the
state . . . have no power to apply the remedy of habeas corpus, for its
operation is suspended . . . and the citizens of the state therefore cannot
resort to this mode of testing the legality of imprisonment when they are
subjected to it. It has no reference to a reasonable delay that may be
occasioned in the disposition of such cases.

(Emphasis added.) MacReady v. Wilcox, supra, 329. Accordingly, the habeas court's

ruling has no basis in the requirements of the constitution.

Moreover, in interpreting the meaning of Practice Book rules, it is appropriate to use

the statutory construction principles. See Thalheim v. Greenwich, 256 Conn. 628, 639
(2001) (rules of statutory construction apply with equal force to interpretation of rules of
practice). Here, the habeas court’s ruling violated “the well-established maxim that
‘statutes must be construed, if possible, such that no clause, sentence or word shall be

superfluous, void or insignificant.” State v. Whitford, 260 Conn. 610, 641 (2002), quoting

Nizzardo v. State Traffic Commission, 259 Conn. 131, 158 (2002). Practice Book § 61-

11(b) sets forth the non-criminal matters to which the automatic stay provisions do not
apply. If the Rules Committee had wanted to exclude habeas corpus matters in which
relief is granted based on a finding of actual innocence, it could have done so. The habeas
court’s ad hoc exclusion of such cases from the automatic stay provisions renders § 61-

11(b) to be “superfluous, void [and] insignificant.” State v. Whitford, supra, 641.

Finally, the habeas court stated that “an automatic stay of [the] court’s judgment and
orders would negate both the fundamental purpose of the Great Writ and have the effect

oftransforming meaningful relief into furtherillegal confinement.” Memorandum of Decision




at 57. In making this assertion, however, the habeas court overlooks the fact that Practice
Book § 61-11 provides the trial court with discretion to lift the stay when the interests of
justice so require.

Practice Book § 61-11(c) permits the trial court to terminate a stay pending appeal
where (1) . . . the appeal is taken only, for delay or (2) the due administration of justice so
requires.” The court may do sb, however, only “after a hearing.” Id. A hearing on the
issue of whether the automatic stay should be terminated provides both sides with the
opportunity to be heard, and, therefore, makes it more likely that the trial court’s decision
will truly be in the interest of justice. Moreover, a hearing ensures that an adequate record
exists for subsequent review by this Court if either party deems it necessary. See Practice
Book §§ 61-14 and 66-6.

Accordingly, the habeas court’s attempt to exempt its ruling from the application of
the rules of the Practice Book — rules promulgated to ensure the orderly administration of

justice — is entirely without justification.




WHEREFORE, this Court should grant the respondent’s motion for review, vacate

the habeas court’s ruling that the automatic stay provisions of Practice Book § 61-11 do

not apply to the judgment in this case and direct the habeas court to apply § 61-11 and the

other appropriate prO\}isions of the Practice Book when ruling on stays in this case.

By:

Respectfully submitted,

BRIAN K. MURPHY
COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTION
STATE OF CONNECTICUT

RESPONDENT
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MICHAEL E. O'HARE

Supervisory Assistant State's Attorney
Civil Litigation Bureau

Office of the Chief State's Attorney
300 Corporate Place

Rocky Hill, Connecticut 06067
Telephone: (860) 258-5807
Facsimile: (860) 258-5968

E-mail: michael.ohare@po.state.ct.us
Juris No. 402480




CERTIFICATION

The undersigned attorney hereby certifies that this document complies with the
provisions of Practice Book §66-3, and that a copy of the same was mailed, first class
postage prepaid, to Attorney Peter Tsimbidaros, P. O. Box, 320482, Fairfield, Connecticut,
06825, Telephone: (203) 333-5111, Fax: (203) 333-5111; Attorney Joseph Visone, 41
Miscoe Road, Mendon, Massachusetts 01756, Telephone: (508) 634-9957; Starble &
Harris, LLC, Avon Park South, One Darling Drive, Avon, Connecticut 06001, Telephone
(860) 678-7775; and Senior Assistant State’s Attorney John M. Waddock, Office of the
State’s Attorney, 245 Church Street, New Haven, Connecticut 06510, Telephone: (203)
6823, Fax: (203) 789-6400, on March 22, 2010 .

YoV e

MICHAEL E. O'HARE
Supervisory Assistant State's Attorney
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1 [ Docket Nos.: CV05-4000409 & CV03-0003933
-2

3 |§ George Gould } State of Connecticut

4 i Inmate # 82915 } Superior Court

5 il Ronald Taylot }

6 il Inmate # 224606 }

7 vs. ' A } Judicial District of Tolland

8 } at Somers | ‘

o ll Commissioner of Correction } = mg
10 ||l State of Connecticut } March 17, 2010 = 5.5%1,;:‘
11 o sg

T 88
12 Memorandum of Decision = ﬂi
13 g B
14 i "This case tises and falls on the testimony of Doreen Stiles.!’
15 Senior Assismnt State Attorney Jarnes G. Clatk
16 | |
17 A senseless, cold-blooded, execution st:yle~ mutder was cominitted in the catly moming
18 hours.lof July 4%, 1993.‘ M. Fugenio Deleon Vega went to the éz;aall bodega |;hat he owned in
19 |} the Faithaven section of the City of New Hayven named La Casz VGIWII, to open wp fox the
20 [}l day. At 5:08 AM, he deactivated the alaxh system on the front doot. Before the hour of
21 |l six AM, before he could even grrange the momin;g newspapess, he was dead. He had been
1 No trucr words have ever been spoken about both the undcdymg casc and the habcas corpus pzocccdmg
W nowac bar, Sict 0. Gould, State 0. Tayler, 241 Conn. 1, fa7 at 3, (1997)

PAGE 1 OF 58

Exhibit A




03/17/2010 WED 14:38 FAX 8608703241 HABEAS CORPUS

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

executed, shot once in the left temple with a projectile from a .38 calibex semianromatic
pistol. These are indisputable facts.
Within a tmonth, two men, Ronald Tafrlor and George Gould, had been arrested by the

New Haven Police Department and charged with his murder, Messrs. Gould and Taylor

were both addicted to crack cocaine and had apparently spent much of the night and eady |

morning houts of July 3% and July 4* committing small unselated street robbetics to obtain
money fot mote crack. They were tried in a joint ttial before 2 jury in the Superior Court of
the Judicial District of New Flaven, convicted, and sentenced to lengthy pﬂson. terms, They
have femained incatcerated from the date of their initial arrest in 1993 through today.

These two men, whose fates have been inextricably bound together since that July morning

in 1993, ate now the petitioners in this \musual joint habeas proceeding in which they allege

that their incarceration is ﬂlegzl The matter was ttied before this Court over a sm—month
pu:tod in 20092 It is now an mescapable conclusion that 2 manifest injustice has been done

to these two men, a manifest injustice that advetscly affects each and every stage of these

proceedings. Ge.orge Gould and Ronald Taylot have been convicted and spent over sixteen

yeats in the custody of the state of Connecticut Department of Correction for a ctime that,
based upon all of the available evidence, they did not comimit. |

The petitioners allege in neatly idcnﬁcal petitions for 2 Wxit of Habeas Cotpus mma]ly
ﬁlcd on Apnl 23, 2003 and amended for the final time on August 30, 2004 thae their
convictions and resuleant sentences wese dcfectlve undetr both the United States

Conpstitution and the Constitution of the State of Cognecticut and that as a xesult they atce

2°Jhere were sixtean days of txial testimony during this 'pclioci .
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catitled to have these convictiops and seatence set aside. This Coust agrees and will order

approptiate relief,

Findings of Fact

1. The peritioners were defendants in criminal cases (joined together for trial) proceeding

in the Judicial District of New Haven in which they were charged with commiting the
ctimes of: Intentional Murder in violation of CGS §53a-54a, Felony Murder in violation
of CGA §532-54c, Robbery in the 1% deétee in violation of CGA §532-134(a)(2),
attemnpted Robbery in violaﬁon';)f CGS §§532-49 and 53a-134(a)(2) and conspitacy to

commit robbery in the 17 degrec in violaton of CGS §§532-48 and 532-134.

. In the 1997 decision upholding the petitioners’ convictions, owx Supreme Coutt found

that the juty could reasonably have concluded that the follov;ing facts wete true, “On

" July 4, 1993, at approximately 5:35 a.m., the-defendants enteted La Cass Groon, o retail

store, on ‘Grand Avenue in New Haven. The owne'r, Engenio Vega, had opened the
store shottly after 5 a.m. and wes the only petson in the store, The defendants tied up
Vega's hands with electtical cord, placed him in the store's cooler, and fatally shot him
in the head. The deferidants tool 'money and jewcley from Vega's safe and searched
through Vega's wallet.

“The state's px;indpal witness was Doreen’ Stiles. She tegﬁﬂed that after she obsetved
Gould enter the store, she hid in the alleyway next to the store. From het hiding place,
Sules heard the voices of three people arguing in the store, including Vega, who was

scteaming, She distinctly heatd Vega and the defendants arguiné about money and

"PAGE3 OF58
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. “Susana Negron, the victim's daughter, testified that she did the bookkeeping for her

~ father's store, At the begitming' of each week, Negron would make deposits for hee

papets, cash and coins. The jewelty included a ‘heautiful diamond earting’ that Vega

' ' ‘ ‘ ) .
Wottz also saw a wallet on a box next to the safe. He then entered the coolerand found

. ““Detective Chais Grice of the New Haven police department then arrived at the ‘store.

" 0371772010 WED 14:36 FAX 8608703241 HABEAS CORPUS

opening the safe. After a couple of minutes, Stiles heard a single gunshot. She then

observed Botb of the defendants leave the store” ...

father of zeceip.ts totaling between $3000 and $10,000. The week before ber father's
murdet, howevet, she did not make a deposit. Her father had insttncted her not to
make a deposit that week because he planned to use those receipts to make a down
payment on 2 building that he intended to purchase. Negron farther testified that
duting December, 1992, before her father's mur&er, she had seen the contents of the

floox safe in the back of La Cata Green, and that the safe contained jewelry, docutments,

intended to leave for his wife, but Negton never saw the earring again after her father’s

death.

. “Officer Keith Wortz of the New Haven police departiment was the fitst officer to

eater La Case Green following the shooting, Wortz testified that after finding no onc in
the front of L Casa Grven, he entered the back area of the store. There he saw an open

floor sa'fe with items on the floor outside of the safe and lcaning on the open door.
Veega's still warm body:

Gtice testified that he found the cash register keyed on with coins and bills inside. He

Y

8 5 tots v. Gould, State v. Taylor, 241 Cona. 1, 5, 695 A.2d 1022 (1997).
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. The petitioners’ cases wete tried to 4 jury, and while the petitioners wese acquitted of

. Thereafter, on April 7, 1995, the Coutt, Fraaasse, J. scntenced both petitioners to 2 total

. Doreen Stiles testified at the habeas trial. She is now 2 woman of 51 years of age. She

July 4%, 1993, The truth that she now says she showld have testified to in 1993 was that.

stated that there did not appear to be any money missing from the cash register. In the
back of the store, however, he observed bank statements and a paper band, of the type
used to wrap money, on the floor. The safe was open and there were jewelrjr.boxes
inside, but there was no moncy ot jewelty in the safe. Grice also found Vega's wallct,

which did not conmin any money, although Vega had $1800 in the front pocket of his

trousers.” *

the charge of Intentional Murder, they were nonetheless convicted of the other four

counts.
effective sentence of eighty years to setve.

is confined to a nursing home and a wheelchair. She is, at long last, drug free. In 2009,
Ms. Doreen Stiles testified, uiader oath, that she had indeed lied, also under oath, when |

she said that she had seen the petitioners in La Casz Green on that fateful moming of

she was not at the scene of the murder at all, ‘That she never saw George Gould
crossing the street with a mean look on his face. That she never heard agyone

screaming, That she never heard a demand that the safe be openéd. ‘That she never

heard any arpument. That she never heard a gunshot, That she never saw both George |’

Gould and Ronald Taylof exit the store and proceed on their way.

% Ssaze v. Gold, State v. Taybor, supra; 241 Conn, 7.8,

Pacr5ors8
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10. At the habcas 1:'|:ia1, evidc;nce was admitted that shows that the electtigal cord used to
bind Mr. Vege’s hands was tested for DNA. While there was human DNA. found on
the cord, the DNA analysis conclusively eliminates Gould, Taylor and the victim as the
;ourcc. |

i 11. Additional facts will be discussed,las pecessary, in subsequent portions of this decision.

Discussion

The petir.ioﬁexs now come before this Coutt seeking to have this coutt set aside their
| convictions of guilty to the charge of felony murder in violation of CGS §53a-54¢; Robbery |
in the 1% dégrée in violation of CGS §§532-8 & 532-134(x)(2); Attempted Robbery in the 1%
degtree; and Conspifacy to cominit Robbery in the 1% degtee in violation of CGS §§53a-8,
| 48(a) and 134(a)(2). Both peﬁﬁon&s seek an order of this Court that they be released. It is
B important to understand that this instant proceeding is sn action seeking the issuance of 2| -
| writ of habeas cotpus. These cases, having alteady been tried before a juty in the Supérior
Court and appealed to the Connecticut Supteme Court, ate now‘iﬁ ‘what has been called the
“gourt of last resort.” A petition for a writ of habeas corpus is, therefore, an application for
N extraordinary judicial relief in which, contraty to the prior proceedings in the criminal trial

.

cout, the burden of persuasion tests with the petitioners.”

Claims of Actual Innoccnéé

5 This may sebm to be difficult for 4 layman to accept, givea the oft-repeated ‘phrase 'that “onc is innocent
untll proven guilty” However, in a habeas coxpus proceeding, the petitioner is got innocent and has, in fact |,

been already proven guilty beyond all scasonable doubt. ‘Moreoves, a habeas petitioner has mose likely than
| not had the oppottunity to have at least onc appelldte, coust review the case t6 determine of there have been
any exxors of Inw that were made by the tdal coutt, Given that  habess petition is often called the “coutt of
Il 0ot resort” it should not be unexpected that the burden of showing as irregulatty must now sest with the

"petitoncr.

PAGE 6 OF 58
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T Swmmerville 0. Warden, 229 Conn. 397, 421, 641 A.2d 1356 (1994), our Supreme Court
| addressed the question of “whether habeas cotpus permits the granting of 2 new trial
pursuant to a petitiones’s claim of actual innocence, unaciomed by an antecedent showing
of a constitutional violation: that affected the fairness of his ctiminal trall[}” and concluded
that it does. |

The Summerville court emphasized that “[h]abeas corpus is the ultimate inquiry into the
fundathental fairness of a criminal proceeding” Id. The court then weat on to hold “that a
substantial elaim of actual innocence is cognizable by way of a petition for a writ of habeas
cospus, -even in the absenée of proof by the petitioner of an antecedent constitutional
|| violation that affected the x"asult of his critninal wial This holding s consistent with -the
| mandate of §52-470 (a) that the habeas court ‘dispose of the case as law and justice require.’
Even the strong intetest in the finality of judgments, aﬁd, the state's intetedt in retrying a
l defendant with reasonably fresh evidence, does not requite the continued hnéﬂsonmént of
one who is actually innocent. This holding is also consisteat with our [Supteme Cowst's}
priot staternents that habeas corpus is designed to xemedy funddmental miscarsiages of
justice. ... The continved imprisonment of one who is actually innocent would constitute a
miscartiage of justice.” (Citaﬁon.omitted.). 14,422,
" ‘The Supreme Court in S; ﬂ.rmehril/e discussed the differences hetween a petition fora new

Ml tial, that has a three-yeat statute of ﬁmitaﬁons’, except when premised on newly discovered

P
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1 [} DNA evidence, and a petition for a wit of habeas corpus, for which there is 70 applicable
2 |l statute of limitations.® 1d., at 426-27; CGS § 52-582.7 | |
3 “Principally because of the absence of any statute of limitations governing the wtit of
4 |l habeas corpus|] ...the standards governing the issuance of the wait based on a claim of
5 Il actual innocence are not, however, necessatily the same as those governing a petition for a
6 f, new trial based upon newly discovered evidence. Employing the same standard for both
7 ||| petitions would ignoré the legislative determination embodied in the statate of limitations.
8  The principal purpose of the wiait of habeas coi:pus is to serve as a bulwatk against
9 vioiations of fandamental. ... Whether thete has becr.l such a violation must be determined,
10 {ll not only with regard to the petitioner's claiﬁx, but also with rcgarci to the effect of the
11 [l issuance of the writ on the strong interest in the finality of judgments ... and the other
12 |§| interests cmbodied in the statute of limitations. ...
13 “[The Supreme Court has], thetefote, inposed on a habeas cotpus pcddoné: certain
14 |} requirements that reflcct these policy intcxesw'.l For example, [it has] imposed.'.a heavy
15 [fl burden of proof on the petitioner to establish that he is entitled to a new trial ... (The
16 [}t Supreme Court has] also adopted the ‘causc and prejudice’ standard for the re\;iewability in
17 §i a habeas corpus proceeding of constitutional claims not adequately preseived at tral ...
18 .

ll hecause of a procedural default.

| 6 Although there is a sost of ds fuer statute of limitations in that 2 habeas petitioner must be “in the custody of
the commissiones.” in ordex for the Couit 1o have judsdiction. See Lebron v, Conmissionsr of Corrvction, 214
Conan. 507 (2005). ' o .

Il 7 Gencral Stamtes § 52-582 mandates that: “No pesition fos 1 new tdal In any civil o criminal proceeding shall
| be brought but within three years next after the readition of the judgment or decies complained of, except
that a petition based on DNA (deoxyribonuclelc acid) evidence that was not discoverable o available at the
time of the-orginal trial may be brought at any tme after the discovery or availability of such new cvidence.™
Tntctestingly, the finst dlause does not mention acwly discovered evidence. -

PAGEBOF58
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} in qucstion. ... The wholesale transplzmtmg of the petition for a new trial standard to a

Bl habeas corpus petition based on a claim of actual innocence would not give due xespect to

| court had] found unneéessary to answer in Summerville, namely, ‘what is the legal standard

| (Giration omitted.) 1d., at 746.

20 § rémark: “In doing s0, we assume mthout decidmg that the petitioner's claim must be based
| ¥ Accordingly, the requirement in actual innocence claims raised via habeas coxpus of ‘newly dxscove:cd‘
i evidence may be newcd as anothex requizernent that reflccts the same policy reasons. § 52-582 does not state
| that non-DNA based claims st b premised on newly discovered evidence. Thus, the petition for a new
: [l 4sial with the threeyear statute of limitations does not requite newly discovered evidence; the petition for a
| wtit of habeas corpus with no statute of limitations sequires ‘newdy discovercd evidence.

“Those sequirements, which stem Jargely from the fact that 2 habeas cotpus petition may
properly be brought at any time,] ] zest in éigniﬁcant part on the costs to the public interests

fhat are incutred when the state is required to retry 2 defendant many ycars after the events

those considerations. The petitioner who thinks that thete is newly discovered cvidence
sufficicat to overfurn his verdict would have no incentive to bring that evidence before the
coutt within the three year limitations period, and there would be no consequence of his
failute to do so ... Thus, just as a habcas corpus petition may not be employed as a
substitute for a direct appeal ... a habeas corpus petition is not a surrogate for a time barred
petition for 2 new t&al.” (Citations omnitted; footnote omitted.) Sunimervitle v. Warden, supra,

229 Conn. 427-28.

Sevcral years after Suwmmorville, the Supxcme Court demded Miller v. Commtissioner of

[of persuasion] that must be met by & habeas cotpus petitioner claiming actual innoceace n

order to gain a new tral at which his gullt of innocence will again be determined® :..”

The Miler court begm jts considefation of the standatd of - proof with the following

Correction, 242 Conn. 745, 700 A.2d 1108 (1997). Miller “.. pxebcnt[ed] a qucmoa that [the |
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8| with the ‘new evidence’ requirement. 1d., 548-49.” Miller . Cog;/mi.rldorzer of Correction, supra,

|| 242 Conn, 789 n.29.

| occasion to address the ‘new evidence’ requitement. Even as recently as 2009, the cout

¥ discoveted evidence is still an open questLon in our habeas ]unsprudence In the present

1 case, both parties “and the habeas court acknowledge, explicitly and implicidly, that out

on ‘new evidence, that is, evidence that is not cumulative, was not available to the
petiu'onex' at his crimipal wial, and could not h;tvc been discovered by him.at that time
through due diligence. See Sr/fzzmem;'/la v, Warden, supra, 229 Conn, 426, We mzke this
assumption for the purposes of the present case because: (1) the habeas coutt applied that
requirement to the petitioner in this case, and determined that the petitionet's evidence met
|| that requirement; (2) the petitioner agxéed that this should be one of the compopents of his
burden; and (3) the patties do not dispute; that the petitioner's evidence is newly discovered.
We recently certified for appeal the specific question of whether a freestanding clam of
| actual jnnocence must be based on new evidcf;cc. Williams v Connissioner of Corrsctiorl, 240
Conn. 547, 548, 692 A.2d 1231 (1997). We subsequently dismissed that certified appeal as

having been improvidently granted, however, because the petitioner in that case also agreed

Now, mote than a decade after decidling Milkr, the Supicme Court still has not had

obsexved that it had ... stated fin Clanke 9. Commissioner of Corvection, 249 Conn. 350, 338,

732 A.2d 754 (1999),] tbat whether a claim of actual innocence must be based on newly

cwdence Jobnson v. memnomr of Convclm:, 101 Cona. App. 465 470-71, 922 A2d 221

l (2007) Because the respondent does got challenge the petitioner's claim on those grounds

appellatc courts do xequu:e a claim of actual innocence to be based on uewly discovered
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.even though the final resolution of the. newly. discovered evidence standard has yet to be

and the. bhabeas coﬁxt p;cocecded as if the evidence was newly discovercd, we are not called
upon to tesolve this question, Se;a Millor v, Commissioner of Correction, éupra, 242 Conn. 789 n
29 (assuming, without deciding, that actual innocence claim fouse Be based on new
evidence).” Mozell v. Conmissioner of Correstion, 291 Conn, 62, 81 .10, 967 A.2d 41 (2009).
“The Appeliate Coutt, unlike our Supreme Court, has held that newly discovered evidence
ir necessaty to pursue an actual innocence claim via a habeas corpus petition. “tA] claim of
actual innocence must be based on newly discovered evidence, Clarke ». Commissioner of
Correstion, 43 Conn. App. 374, 379, 682 A.2d 618 (1996), appeal distnissed, 249 Conn. 350,
732 A.2d 754 (199§). [A) writ of habeas cotpus cannot issue unless the petitioner first
demonstrates that the evidence put forth in support of his claim of actual innocence is
newly discovered, Williuns v. Comissioner of Correction, 41 Cona. App. 515, 530, 677:A.2d 1
(1996), appeal dismissed, 240 Conn, 547, 692 A.2d 1231 (1997). This cvidentiary bmdex; is
satisfied .if a petitioner ca;l demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidencé, that the
proffered evidence could not have been discovered ptior to the petitioner’s ctiminal trial by
the cxercise of due diligence.” (Intemnal quotation matks omitted.) Baris 2. Commissioner of
Correction, [85 Conn. App. 723, '726-27 858 A.2d 856, cert. denied, 272 Conn. 907, 863 A2d

697 (2004).1" Johnson v. Commiissionsr of Corvection, supra, 101 Conn. App. 470. Consequenﬂj',

addxessed by the Supreme Court, it is beyond arguinent that insofar as any Superiot Court | -

consideting a claim of actual innocence in a habeas peuuon, the matter s closed. The

Appe.llate Court has spoken and that precedent is binding in Supesior Court uﬂlcss and vntil

changcd by the Supreme Coutt.
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To summatize, thep, the newly discovered evidence requirement is satisfied if the
, evidence is: (2) not cumulative; (b) was not available to the petiioners at the time of their
| criminal tial; and, (¢) could pot have been discovered by thewm at that time through the

|| exercise of due diligence,

The newly di_écovered evidence in these petitions is comprised of the recanations by the
witnesses at the original trial, Doteen Stiles and Maty Boyd. The mote important and
relevant of these two ;:ecantations is that of Ms. Stiles, as she testificd both at the probaBle
canse heating and at the criminal trial, and was the only “eyewitness” who places the

petitioners at La Cara"Gmrz at the time of the murder, Cleardy, Ms, Sules’ present-day

9
10 ' testitnony—the tecantation-~is not cutaulitive, was not avgilable to the petitioners at the |
11 critinal trial, and could not have been discovered at the time of tdal. The recantation itself
12 il was entrely within the sole control of Ms. Stiles and that recantation did not come to light
13 | unti[. something like 2006.
14 While our Appellate Court has addressed other habeas. cogpus claifns of actoal
15 innocence, that coutt has not yet had the occasion to address an actual innocence claim | -
16 pretnised almost entizely, if not solely, on a recantation.” Recently, in Lewis v, -Car/zmim'amrbf
17 Carreation, 116 Copn. Apl;. 400, 411-12, 975 A.2d 740, cest. denied, 294 Conn. 908, __ |
18 AZd '(2009'), ‘the ““petitionet appear(ed] to -atgue..., on appeal, that the allegedly
19 petjured tésﬁmony; [presented by a witness during. the cxix;ﬁnallttial] violated his due process
| 20 ‘ rights.. He did not, however, éﬂege a ﬁoh@n of ar'Ly constitutional right in cémlgction'
2'1. bl with. bis pefjusy claim before the habws. com:.t. He similarly did not explain to the habeas
| & Rocantation is not 2n altogother uncommor;, nor pnémmﬂy favoxed, ground for gna:;ﬁng a new téal
«Regantation as grounds for a new twial has elways been viewed with skepticiom.” Chanter o, Stass, 54 Conn.
App. 620, 629,738 A.Z_d 20%, cert, deaied, 251 Conn. 910, '73.9.A.2d 1247 (1999). '
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céurt,‘ in his petition o at his habeas heasing, precisely how the alleged perjuty affected the
outcome of his trial, We are umaware of any precedent whete either:. this coust or oﬁr
| Supreme Coust has held that ap allegation of pequry, unaccompanied by an antecedent
| constitutional violation ot an explznmon of how that perjury affected the J:esult of a tdal, is
a proper ground for secking habeas relief, ...” (Bmphasis added)) (Footnotes omitted) The
Appellate Court then went on to affirm holding that “... the habeas coutt's conclusion that
the petjury coupt of the petitioner's complaint failCd: £o .staté: a claim on which habeas
: cotpus relief can be grant;:d is-Jegally and logically cotrect™ Id., at 412. |

Nevettheless, the Appeﬂaie Court did note the following in Lewds .“[i]n his appellate
beief, the petitioner relie[d] on a case from the United States Coutt of Appeals for the
Second Circuit, in which o habeas petitioner sought relief on thel ground that his murder
copviction was obtaim;d on the petjured testimony of 2 purported witness to the crime. See
Ortzga ». ‘me’ 333 F.3d 102, 103-104 (2d Cir. 2003). We note that Athc;. petitioner in that
case, unlike the petitioner in the present case, alleged in his habeas petition that the allegedly |
false testimony at his trial violated his due process sights. Id., 105-106.

#Our conclusion that a frecstanding petjury allegation is not z; proper habeas claim s
| sxipported by the Ostega coutt's statcment that “a] claim based on pewly discovered
evidence halg] never béen held to state a ground for federal habeas relief abserit an
li independent constitutional v‘io]at'ton occurring in the underlying state ctiminal proceeding, .
We have held that a showing of per;m:y at trial does not in itself estabhsh 2 violation of
- due, process warzanting habeds relief. . . . Instead, when false testimony is provided by 2 .‘

government witness without the prosecuﬁoh‘s knowledge, due process is violated only if the
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testimony was matcerial and the court [is left] with a fitmn belief that but. for the porjured

| zzstinsony, the defendant would most likely pot have been convicted” (Citations omitted;
emphasis added; internal quotation matks omirted.) Id.., 108.

“Our review of the petitioner's habeas petition and the transciipt from the heating shows
that the petitioner did not claim before the habeas COI.‘:It that the alleged perjury violated his
due process rights under the legal test outlined in Ottega or in any other state or federal
casc; Tn the ahsence of such a claim, a habeas court is unable to determine whether an
allegedly false testimony was matetal and whether, but for that testimony, the petiioner
| would most likely not have been convicted.” Lewits v. Comnrissioner of Conwtioﬂ,-supra, 116 |
10 gl Conn. App. 412 n.9.
11 . Lewis, involved an alleped: &uc process violation premised on 2 freestanding perjusy
12 allegation, and thus is teadily distinguishable from the freesranding actual innocence claits
13 amtthoﬁzcci by Sumwvierville, Millr and progeny. It is worth noting, however, that the |
14 p;aﬁﬁohex in Lewss relied on the 2nd Cixenit opinion in Orte‘ga.v; Duncan. That decision, as
15 | well as several other decisions from the 2nd Circuit, e.g., United States o, Gallago, 191 F.3d
16 | 156, 166 (20d Cis. 1999), Samders v, Salfivan, 863 F.2d 218, 225 (2 Gir, 1988), and, United
17 | Seates 1 DiPasks, 835 B.2d 46, 49 (2d Cir. 1987), emphasize the skepricistn with which cotists
18 should view tecantations. EmploYmg such skepticism is paruculm:ly important when al"
19 recantation is cnucal to detemumng whether a coutt should grant 4 new triak This Is true

20 {}i whenever a new triat is rsoughf-1 be it by Way of a petition for 2 new taal, ora petmon foral.

PAcE 14 oF 58




0{3/17/2010 WED 14:38 FAX 8808703241 HABEAS CORPUS

| wiit of habeas coxpgs.w Notwithstanding, such skepticism does not operate as 4 bar to
prevent recantations from being considered “ncwly discovered evid;ngc” such that they
: justify the grantiog of a new criminal tral.

. In Shabagz v. State, 259 Conn. 811, 812, 792°A.2d 797 (2002), an appeal resulting from 2
{| petition for 4 new trial, “[ffhe dispositive dssuc ... [was] whethet the trial coutt, in deciding
this petition for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence, properly engaged in 2
‘credibility assessment of the proffered newly discovered evidence in ordes to deterimine

whether it was likely to produce a different zesult in the cvent of a new trial.” (Footnote

the tpeﬁﬁoner's] gailt . . . and to his [claim] of self-defense’ An affidavit of the witness,
‘ Toxin Praziet, was attached to- the petidon, in which Frazier stated that he had met the
fo bis death.” Id, at 816-17. |

“The teial coust held an evidentiary hearing xega;:ciiug the petition foi 2 new tral, in
which four witnesses testiéicd on behalf of the pCﬁtioner:-Gcorge Lemieus, a private
investigator; Patticia Xing, one of the Pct'itionefs .tdal attotneys; Germano Kimbro, 2
i counselor for a substance abuse program mwhxch Frazier patﬂcip;ted; -.and Prazier.
icmieux and King testified tegarding their inde‘péndé:nt attempts to identify and secure
witv.:iesses who may have been helpful to the petitioner's fiefensc at tdal, N;ithex of thei

| iovestigations had led to Frazier. Kimbro tostified that, efter. the trial and dusing his

1 Orfeg & Daean, 335 F.3d 102 (2 Clr. 2003) (hnbeas corpus petition); U.S. . Gallgs, 191 ®.3d 156 (204 Clr.
1999) (saotion for new tdal); Sanders v, S ~ullivas; 863 F.2d 218 (2% Ciz. 1988) (habeas corpus petition); United
States o, DIPaok, 835 F.2d 46 (2d Cir, 1987) (motion for new tedal), :
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|| omitred.) “In his petition for 2 new tdal, the petitioner alleged that an: eyewitness had come |

| forward after the petitioner's conviction with evidence ‘relevant and material to the lssue of

| viction on the New Haven Green the day of the murdet and observed the events leading up |
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| participation in a drug treatment program, Frazier confided: that he had witnessed the

| coconnter bc!.wcen the petitioner and’ the victim; Kimbzo then contacted the petitioner's
counsel to inform him of ths Fraziet's testimony at the hearing on the petition was
| consistent with bis prior sworsn statement.

“The cumulative testimony of Lemeiux, King and Kimbsro was offered to show that
Frazier's existence as a witness to the incident was not known. to the defense at the time of.
trial, despite the exercise of due diligence, apnd that his testimony therefore constituted
newly discovered evidence. The petitioner argued, moteover, that Frazier's testimony, in
and of itself, substantiated his theory of self-defense and was therefore likely to produce a
10 different result in the event of a new tdal. The petitioner specifically pointed to Frazier's
11 '

statement that he had heard the victim shout that he was going into the trashcan for a gun

il as corroborating his own tral testimony to the same effect. Moreover; according to the

12

13 petitioner, Frazie's sratement supplies the only seasonable explanation for why t.he victim
14 sacyificed his‘only chance at escape by stopping to rez;ch into the tcashcan."?{‘he pctitione'r'
15 [ coutc,nded that Frazier's teatunony, coupled with his own statements, would constitute
16 pexsuaslvc evidence that whep the petmoncr stabbed the victim, hc, d1d 50 under a
17 reasonable belicf that the victim was about to use deadly force in tetam.” Id., at 817-18.

18 “Afrer heaﬁng all of the evidence adduced in support of the petiton, the trial court
19 ; denied the requcsted relief, The court ba.sed its decxsmn, in pestinent past, on its express
20 . ﬁndma that Frme:: was not a credible witness, gwen his criminal record, histoty of diug
21 abuse and mcouslstent testimony.” Id., at 820.
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The Connecticut Supreme Court jchc.u discussed the applicable standard io petitions for a |
pew tral, as established in Asberman v. Stat, 202 Con.n. 429, 434, 521 A.2d 578 (1987).
“Under Asbersan v, State, supra, ... a coust is justified in granting a petition for a new trial
when jt it satisfed that the evidence offered in support thereof: (1) is newly discovered such
.. that it could n(;t have been discovered previously despite the exercise of dne diligence; (2) |-
would be material to the issues on a new trial; (3) is not cumulative; and (4) is likely to
produce 2 different result in the event of 2 new tdal.” Id., at 820-21. The Supreme Court
noted that “[flhe roots of this test can lbe traced back as fax as 1850()” Id,, at 821, citiﬁg '

| Water ». Gruaves, 20 Corin. 305, 310 (1850).

9

10 “Prior case law confirms that a tdal court ‘must‘ehgag:‘: in some form of credibility
11 analysi; in order to determine, under Asharman, whether the newly discovered evidence
12 j offered in support of a petition 'is lik.cly to produce a different result oz;. retrial” Shabagg v.
13 ’E Stats, supra, 259 Conn, 822.” “This asticulation of the petitioner's burden of prc;of assigns
14 to the teial court, in the fitst instance, the responsibility of evalinating the credibility of the
15 evidence in order to decide properly whether a new tuial would produce 2 different result:
16 In elaborating on this point, [the Supreme Coust] explicitly approved of Judge Cardozo's

17 | concugting opinion in Pegple v. Shilitane, 218 NY. 161, 186; 112 NLE. 733 (1916), whetein he '
18 1 stated that ‘a judge, faced with gonﬂicﬁng stories fon a petition for a new trial], should {pot]
19 abandon the seatch for truth and tam it over-to a ;w:y ... [Rathes] it fis] the duty of the

20 teial judge to try the facts, and determinie as best h.e [can] where the fikelihood of the truth |
.21 lay. . . . He [is] not at liberty to shift upon the showlders of andther jury his own
| responsibility.” (Internal quotation marks omitted). Lm’bardé 2, Stats, supta, 172 Conn. 391.

22
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1 [j{ Thus, Lombarde acknowledged that it is not only proper, but often necessary, for a trial
2 il court to assess &e credibility of newly discovered evider,l.cc‘. [''] in the context of a petition
3 : for a new tyial. IcL”l Shabagz v. Stat, supsa, 259 Conn. 824
4 “Although, as [prior] cases demonstrate[d], {the Supreme Court] previousiy [had]
5 established that a credibility detesmination is 4 necessaty patt of a ttial court's analysis under
6 the fourth prong of Asherman, [the couﬁ] never [had] defined the propet parameters of such
7 a determination. ln this regard, [the court noted] that the extent to which 2 teial cou;t'
8 propetly assesses ﬁw credibility of the newly discovered evidence is informed, in large past,

by two well-defined and, often, compeﬁng interests. l'fixst, the sfatgl has a general interest in
10 Presexvj'.;lg final judgments of conviction thiat have been fairly obtained land in ensusing that
11 apptop::t:ate deferei.)ce is ‘given to the original trial as'the foram for deciding the question of
12 | guﬂt or innocence within the limits of hun.aan fallibility. . . > (Internal quotation marks
13. otgitted) Miller v. Commissiontr of Correction, [supra, 242 Conn. 793} (1997). This interest is
14 | heightened, moteoves, when the state is faced with the possibility of having to re-litigate the
15 question of the petitioner's guilt or innocence in a second trigl, ‘when its evidence . . . may
16 be less reﬁable and pessuasive than it was’ on'gina]ly.. 1d., 792. Second, the petitioner has aa
17 interest, S red by the srate and the judicig m ensutiny that 4 wrongful conviction

18 il does not stand, Id. Indeed, even in situations in which the ultimate question is not one of

| 1t “[The Supreme Cotit noted] that such cvidence may consist, for example, of tha testimony of a newly
i discovered eyewitmess, s in the present case; of newly discovered impeachment evideniée; of acwly discovered
sclentific’ cvidence; of newly discovered wxpest tesimony; or of recanesrion of the ieatfmony of a pgor|
yriiness, to name several types of such evidence” (Bmphasis added) (Footnote renumbered) An additional
aspect of the rccantation itwelf being newly dscovered evidence is that If the recantation' is found to be
- 1l credible, then what is now previously committed perjury also may te considored newly discovered cvidence.
Wl See, ., Ortaga . Duncas, supra, 333 F.3d 105, . - oL
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total guilt ox mnocence, the petitioner has an interest jn cosuring that be is not wrongfully |

convicted of a more serious crime than is ]usnﬁed by the facts of the case,

“[The Suprerac Court’s] formulation of the frial judge's tole in passing on the credibility
of sewly discovered evidence inust strike the approprate balance between these two
interests. If, on the one hand, [the court] were to limit the trial court solely to a
Jetermination of whether the newly discovered evidence would be admissible in a new ttial
and whethet it might result in a diffexent vexdict, the trial court would be stripped of its
legitimate fact-finding function on the petition and be relegated to the role of gatekeeper of
the evidence. Such a result would sender judgments of conviction unduly susceptible to
collateral attacks, thereby giving insufficient wcight to tbLe state's, legitimate interest in

finality. Alternatively, were [the court] to hold that the tnal court always acts as the final and

sole athiter of credibility in cvaluating the evidence zllcged to justify a new trial, [the courd] -

would be itupeding the pettioner's lepitimate interest in establishing that a wrongful
conviction docs not stand. For example, thete may be cases in which the tral court is
justified in determining that the newly discov{:,red evidence is sufficiently credible and of
such a patute that, in order to avoid an injustice, a second jury, rather than the trial court

itself, should make the ultimate assessment of its credibility.

_ “(The Supreme Coutt] thegefore conclude[d] that, in order to give due weight add .

consideration to these important interests, and in ordet to provide sufficient flexibility to

accommodate the wide vasiety of types of nev;lly discovered evidence that may be offered in

suppott of a petition for a new tial, trial courts should wtilize the fo}i,owi:;g- approach when | -

applying the fourth' element of the Asherman test, The trial c'ourlt must always consider thie
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10

11-

12

13

newly discovered cvidence in the context of the evicien.cé'presented in the oxiginal trial. In
so doing, it must determine, first, that the evidence passes a minimum credibility threshold.
That is, if, in the trial court's opinion, the newly discovered evidence simply is not credible,
it may legitimately determine &ag even if presented t0 a new jury in 2 sccond tial, it

probably would not yield a different result and tmay deny the petition on that basis. ... I,

however, the wial court determines that the evidence is sufficiently credible so that, if a

second jury wete to considet jt together with all of the odginal trial 'evidehce, it probably

would yield 2 different result or othetwise avoid an ipjustice, the fourth element of the

Asherman test would be satisfied” (Emphasis added)) (Citation omitted) Shabagy, v Swate, |

supra, 259 Conn. 825-28.
The Supreme Court stressed that “... the majotity of [is] case Jaw ... has not
differentiated, among types of newly discovered evidence when reviewing a trial court's

decision on a petition for a new trial. [* Finally, because the interests implicated in =

12 “Iq fact, [the Supreme Conrt's own] researchi revealed that, to date, it kad] decdded only one case invaleing ‘

a pefition for @ new teial bascd on recantation cvidence, namely, Swith 0. State, 139 Conn. 249, 93 A.2d 296
(1952). Following bis conviction for musdec, the defendant in Szh sought 2 new wial on the groond that an
eyewitness who had tcstified-for the state at trial had come forward and declared, under oath in a depositon,
that he trial testimony had been false. I4, 251, The tial coutt had denied the peridon, icasoning that ‘the
plaintiff frdled to prove (1). that the [witncss] testimony on the trial was falic, (2) that without it the jury might
have zeached 4 different conclusion, ot (3) that the element of susprise, under the clrcumstances, entitled hira
to 4 now trial’ J4 The petitioner appealed from the judgment of the tdal court to this court- Although [the
coutd) affitmed the judgment, [ did so, not by saference to {any specific tes, but rather by reference to the
more genetal principle that Gf upon reading the testimony [adduced at tral] ... in conacction with. the new

testimofty produced, no injlistice is apparent and the newly discovered ¢vidence is. insufficicnt to render a |

different rosult npon a new ttfal probable, 2 new trial should not be pranted.’ ... Gamuon v State, 75 Conn. 576,
583, 54 A. 199 (1903). Tn. reaching [its]. decision, [The Suprcme Cost. had] also noted that ‘fa} new tdal will
stot oxdinaily be granted because of the discovery of additional impcaching or disceediting testimony’s Swith v.
State, supta, 251; especlally whare such testimony consists of something so jsherently uatelisble and

mtrastworthy 45 a zecantation. T, 262-53. ‘Thus, even in the sole instance i which [the Supreme Coust had)

have identificd the nature of the newly discovered evideace at issue as falling within the category of ‘false trial
testimony,’ [the court had] not expressly endossed fa specific test]).” (Internal citations omitted.) (Footnote
renumbesed.) - .
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petition for 2 new trial remain the same¢ irtespective of the nature of the newly discovered
evidénce at issue, [the coutt could] conceive of no principled basis for maintaining ...
different tests.” Id,, at 829-30, ‘This final point Is important because Shabazy involved a
petition for a new trial and not 2 habeas corpus petition. Nevertheless, the test a habeas

court should apply to detertnine whether evidence is pewly discovered has its roots in the

fourth prong of the Asbsrman test.

A retumn to Swmmpervlle, the case in which the Supreme Coutt first addressed a

l| frcestanding claim of actual jnnocence raised via a habeas corpus petltion, shows the

| relevance and importance of the foutth Ashermar prong.

“Both the petition for a new trial standard and the ... standard [for ineffective assistance
of counsel] tely essentially on a determination by the reviewing coust — either the trial

court passing on a pefition for 2 new trial, or a habeas court passing on claim of

: ineffectiveness of counsel — that, consideting the evidence and claims now brought before
it, together with the evidence produced at the original uial, there is 2 probability of a
;:liffc.tent result, Because neither of those standards appropriately fits the interests at stake
in this type of habeas petition [t2ising an actual innocence claim], [the Supreme Coutt]

| conchudefd] that the standard should be more derpanding than a probability of a different

gesult. None of our ptior habeas corpus jutispradence, however, supplies us with a ready
standard fos this type of case. ...

. “The jssue then becomes the detenmination of the corect standard. Such ‘&

habeas court ‘dispose of the case as law and justice require,’ General Statutes 54-470 [52-
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470)(a). What law 2nd justice require’ is not a one-sided question. The smnd&d must
|| stiike an appropriate balance between, on one hand, the sisk that an actually innocent
petson may be incarcerated, despite his conviction after a fait tiial, and; on the other hand,
the tisk that an actually gtﬁlty person, faitly convicted, may nonetheless be sct free years
later, principally because of the effect of the passage;, of time on the st;te‘s evidence and on
the reliability of the fact-finding process.

“The issue of the deterininadion of the correct standard for this type of case can be
divided into two components. The first question is: what is the legal standad that must be
met by a liabeas corpus petitionex claiming actual innocence in order to gain 4 new trial at
which his guilt or innocence will. again be detertnined? Put ;znother way, what does ‘a
substantial claim of actual jnnocence’ mean in this context? The second duestion is:
applylng that standatd, what evidence adduced by such a petitioner c]mmmg actual
innocence is sufficient to togger the requirem;:nt of the habeas court to evaluate th:;.t'
il cridence, together with and in light of the evidence produced at the petitioner's criminal
trial, and, as a result of that evaluation, to permit tixc habeas coutt to issue the writ? {The
Smmr.vz'lle cout] co'nclude[d], under the circumstances of fthat] case, that [it] need not
answa.the First question, and need not fe.labozate on the second question, because the
petitioner's evidence was insﬁfﬁdc;,nt under any of the standards preseated to-us by the |-
parucs in this case or by othex approptiate habeas corpus jurisprudénce.” (lﬂ:’potdote
‘ omitted,) S:o;:me_r‘v}ilk v. Warden, ‘supm, 229 Conn..43"1 -33. |
Miller later preseated the Supreme Coutt with the oppottunity to address what it did not

| fiave to addtess in Swamerville. As part of its determinations in M#fer, the Supreme’ Court -
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“-... addressfed] the second component of the standard of proof for a claim of actual
im.aocence that the jﬁﬁsm and coutts that have considered the question have included in one
form ot another. That component requires some determination by the habeas court of what
a second fact finder — normally, a juty — is likely to do if presented with the same
evicience,‘ original and new, that was ptesented to the habeas court. That component has
been expressed in various ways. ... {The Milkr cour ... concludefd| that the most
approptate standard fto ;pply is whethet no reasonable fact finder, considering alt of the

evidence in the same way that the habeas court considered it, and drawing the same

inferences that the habeas coutt drew, would find the petitioner guilty of the crime of which ||

he stands convicted, , .. This formulation, moreover, is consistent with the remedy of a new

trial upon a successful habeas petition, because on the new trial the fact finder would be

free to draw inferences contraty to those dtawn by the habeas coutt and theteby find the '

defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt” (Footaote’ omitted) Miller v. Commissioner of
Correction, supra, 242 Cong. 799-800.

“[Ajpplying this second component in this fashion is consis"cent with- our babeas
jurisprudencé regarding a petition for a new trial based on newly discovered cvide..n'ce. In
that context, in which ‘the primary test. is whether an . injustice wa;s done : . . '[we ask
whethet] on a new tdial 2 diffetent result would be reached.” Taborsky ». State, 142 Copn.
619, 623, 116 A.2d 433 (1955). Thus, in that context, we focus c‘m the likely .effcct of the
newly discovered evideiice on a second fact ﬂﬁdcr.” Mller ». COI:Mi!:.l¥.0”€l‘ of Correctivn, supra,
242 Copn. 802, O, as stated in_Asherman’s foutth prong, the coutt must decide whether the

newly discovered evidence is likély to produce a different result in the event of a new trial.
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Il of the testimony that was presented in the trial court, The words that are spoken may well

I misinterpretation. This, of course, is the basis for the extraordinary deference often

N\ 1rial tastimony excastly as if was presented Yo the ovigisial jury.

| of the chatges against the petitioners. She was suffering from endocarditis™ and was unable

The Unique Position of this Habeas Court

Whik; the judge who sits on a habeas corpus petition is often, privy to testimony and
evidence that the original trial jury has not haci the opportunity to view or consider, the
habeas judge is often (in truth, almost always) deptived of the benefit afforded to the
original jury that viewed the testimony and demeanor of the witness as originally presented.

"The habeas cout is most frequently confined to the reading of a somewhat stesile transctipt

be propedy preserved, but what is inevitably lost is the inflection with which those words

were said, the emphasis placed upon cestain syﬁables and the ability to obsetve the physical

H the wotds that are used, but through modulations of voice as well as body langnage. Asal.

consequence, the truc meaning of a particular set of words {cven wotds meticulously and

accurately transeribed), and the message being communicated, may well be lost or subject to

afforded to the finder of fact in all tribunals by habeas courts and appellate coutts.
However, the trial of this habeas petition has presented o singulatly unique opportﬁnity for-

this Coust to see and hear both the testimony of Doreen Stiles in the habeas tidal ar well as ber

Mo, Stiles was in hospital with a setious life threatening condition at the time of the trial

14 Bndocarditis Is an Infection or inflammation (résponé}. to injury of the cclls) of the valves of the heart or of
' the chdocardium, the inner liniag of the heast chambers. Bndocarditis is a sedous condition that can, cause

demesnor of the witness while testifying. Human beings communicate not simply through |
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to attend the wial in pesson. Fven though she had testified in persop at the Hearing in
Probable Causc and the transcript of that testimony would have been available for use at
the trial on the merits, the state sought to further preserve her testimony and to present it to
ji the jury .by way of videotape.”: Consequently, the trial judge, the defendants, the coutt
: mougitor and lawyess assembled at the hospitai whete Ms..Stiles was undergoing treatment
|| 2nd conducted a diect and cross examination of her, The videotape was edited to addsess
il issues involving objections by the counsel and then prcscnfed to the juty. Itis this identical
videotaped testimony that was played before this Coutt in the babeas trial Conscquently,
| this habeas court has had the identical expedence, vis a #is thg testimony of Dorecn Stiles, as
did the original jury.

| Mendacity and Veracity,
The Testimonies of Doreen Stiles™

If there was a single critical comment made in the course of the entite legal proceedings
|| involving the mutder of Mr. Vepa aﬁd the subsequent prosecutions of Mx. Gould and M.
| 'I‘aylgr, it caﬁ clgaﬂy be attn‘butcd_ to Sepior Assistant States Atrorney Jatoes G. Clatk, the
prosecutor assigned to the cases. Tn his ddsing atgument to the juty he offered the ;:)pi'niog |
that “this case rises and falls on the testimony of Doreen Stiles.” Petitioner’s Bxhibiv 11 (T
Januarty 30, 1995), at pg. 25. No et staterment has ever been spoken. When one examines

the totality of the ‘evidence produced in all of the courts in which this issue has been

heast failure, stroke, kidney falluse, and death. Journaf of the American Medical Association, JAMA. 2002;288(1):128
(doi:10.1001/jama.288.1.128). R . . L
15 This was one of the ptincipal issues on appeal. .

16 Of course, Ms, Stlles is not the only witacss to have changed het testimony. Masy Boyd, who in 1993 had a
drug habit, is now also drug-free and admits to lying to the police td avoid prosccution and prevent DCF from
taling her children, Her zecantation nd habeas testimony in 2009 is deemed credible. Less space is devoted to
an analysls of her recantation because she isa Icss central fipure than Ms. Stiles. .

N
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litigated, it is crystal clear, beyond any dispute, that Eugenio de Leon Vega was indeed

2 |ll murdered on July 4 1993. Notwithstanding, what is also crystal cleat is that the sole piece
3 [l of evidence, the only thread that links George Gould and Ronald ‘Taylor to this senseless

murder is #he Ie;ﬁm@ of Done;m Stiles. I this tether breaks, then thete is absolutely zothing
that implicates these two men. At the trial of the case in 1995, the case rose because
| Doreen Stiles made that linkage; at the tnal of the habeas petition in 2009, the case must
fall, once again, based upon the testimony of Doxeen Stiles. So 2 key question before dus
1l Coutt is just wheze does the question of hex credibility stand?

To begin this analysis, we must recognize that we know, to an absolute moral certainty,
10 (|| thar Doreen Stiles has, indecd, committed perjury. There simply js no way to reconcile her
11 | testimonies in 1993 and 1995 with her testimony in 2009 without concluding that she has at
12 if one point lied under oath. Her testimony at the criminal tal and her testimony at the
13 |}l habeas trial ate diametxically opposed. One vession is false; the other version i.s te. Both
14 Bl wero given under oath so whichever vetsion this Court chooses to i;e]ieve, the othet version

15 fll is perjutious. Consequently the only condusion avalable is that Doreen Stiles perjured

16 {l} herself either now, or in the past.
17 §
18 |

»17

afﬁrms ot testifies falsely, to a matetial statement which ke docs not believe to be true

: r
17 The punishment for perjuzy is confinement for a pesiod not to exceed five years.
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» the punishment is or may be imprisonment in excess of one year, except within five years
next after the offense has been committed.” 'This means that if the testimony that Ms.
|| Stiles provided to the critninal wial was false, then the ability of the state to prosecute het

| on that false testimony expired in the year 2000. On the other hand, if the testimony

1

! pmsentcd to the habeas court was false, then the statute of Jimitations within which te '

| state must initiate 2 prosecution will not expire until mid 2014, The argument that the |
| p exp gu

i1

12
13

14

Yot
N~}

N
[

| Court should not give ber habeas testimony credibility because she waited until after she

wnconvincing. Indeed, while a recantation made during the petiod of statute of limitations

might earry somt added credibility because the witness is willing to come into court and sisk

voluntasy submission to a potential pesjuty pxosecuﬁon for her current testimony leads this

| Cobzt to conclude that her 2009 testimony is mote worthy of belief. -

had the oppottunity to view. the identical testimony that the juty viewed in the oﬁgi;ml

l this Coutt finds that the demeanor of Doteen Stiles on the witness stand in the habeas trial

was free from the risk of prosecution before she recanted her tial testimony is

prosecution in ordet to cotrect false testimony, the same rationale applies here 2s well. Ms.
Stiles js free and clear from any liability for false testimony in 1995, On the other hand, if

she now comes forward in 2009 to recant her carlier testimony and i fying abont that

Oftentimes the demeanot of the witness while testifying is a critical factor in the fact-

finder’s assessment of credibility. That is true in this case as well. ‘This habeas Court has

criminal trial as well as the Jive testimony of the witness at the habeas trial. In a nutshell,

secantalion, she once again subjects hemclf to potential prosecution for peguty.

Consequently, the expiration of the statute of limitations for the eadier. testimony and her |
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is far more conducive to finding het to be credible when she secanted her eatlier testimony

than when she injtially delivered that caslier testimony.
| In her videotaped testimony from 1995, Ms. Stles looked drawn, haggard, and was
clearly 2nnoyed at the whole proceeding. She was'combative irt her answets, hostile to the
couttroom personnel, and complaining about some of the questions with which she was
confronted. In conttast, her 2009 habeas testimony was significantly different. First, Ms.
 Stiles, although in a wheelchair due to her disability, appeased healthy and no longer had a
| combative, impatient air about heeself.- She answered all of the questions put to het by both
| the petitioners’ counsel and by the respondent’s counsel. She was polite; thoughtful, in no
way evasive and preseated clear and uncompromised testimony. Hyen when subjected to
| vigorous cross-examination, she was non—combati;ve and attempted to answex questions as
| completely as poss1ble Her demeanor in 2009 appears far more sincere than her 1995
B videotaped testimony and thus this court will credit her testimony at the habeas trial as
being the mote credible, With this, we move on to discuss the pre-habeas testimonies of
| Sﬁlcs.and Boyd.

4

‘The Pre-Habeas Testhnomes of Doreen Stiles and Mary Boyd

| Doteen Stiles testified at the heating in probable cause and at the criminal trigl; Mary
g Boyd tesnﬁed only at the criminal trial ’I‘heu prc—habeas trial testimonies allow the
construction of time Jines that both cleaﬂy and convmcmgly show that the events Stiles and
Boyd fabricated could not have transpired. What follows are summaries of key events and
ttmes, as distilled frotn the tramscripts.

B
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Hearing in prohable causge®
Doteen Stiles

Dutag ¢atly morning houss of July 4, 1993, Stiles walked from Grand Avenue and Fery

| Street (Gtand and Festy) to La Casa Green, (Pg. 15) According to Stiles, about a five minute
| walk. (Pg. 16.) She left Grand and Fetzy at about 5:30 a.m; that time was obtained by her
| from the bagk clock on the corner of Grand and Ferry. (Pg. 16.)” After Stiles arrived in the
area of Lz Casa Green, she first saw a black gitl, who was in front of La Casa Green, aftes

{ll which a latge black male coming from across the street caught her attention. (Pgs. 16-17) A

|| La Casa Green. (Pg. 17; also see pg. 18 for desctiption of male as looking “very mean”, “like

hie was gc'>ing to hurt het”, as well as pgs. 19-20.) Stiles became scared by the large black

male and his demeanot and hid on the side of the store. (Pg. 17.)
Stiles confirmed the time was approﬁmately 5:30 am., “just about daylight.” (Pg. 19.)
Per Stiles, large black male went into store while she stayed at the side of La Casa Grven. (g

20.). Stles heard arguing coming from inside the store. (Pg: 20)) Stiles testified she heard Mt.

18 Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, (Tx October 14, 1993). Taylor walved heating in probable cause; see pgs. 2-4- Taylor

then entered ‘not guilty pleas, Consequenty, hearing in probable cause only as to Gould, who waived his ght

* ] 10 be prescnt because of the subsequent identificgtion to be made by Dozcca Stiles, See pg. 10.
4l 1 The couct notes that the times Stiles testified to at the October 14, 1993 hearing in probable caase are -

consistent with the times she provided in hor July 29, 1993 statement to the police. As detalled below, the times
provided in 1993 are different from those Stiles testified to in the 1995 criminal tedal. The July 29, 1993 ’
statement contains the following: “Q. Now, how did you know it was 535, Will you pleasé cxplain that to me?
A, Yes. I'was on the comer of Grand sad Feety. Uh, there's a baok there and the bank has & clock, and the

¥ Jock is 2 half hour slow. So I know that it takes mg. five minues to wilk from thexe to the storc, and T had

Jefe at 5:30 and I got to the storc-at 5:35,” Criminal “T'rial Exhibit Taylok F. In accordzance with Practice Book §

i 23-36, the court will treat this cxhibit as paxt of the recoxd before this habeas court,

large black male was walking “with setous intent, ... scary”, from across the street toward |-

Vega's voice, speaking in Spanish, and that he sounded scared. (Pg 20.) Stiles again
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Il identified her Jocation as being in the alleyway between L4 Casa Green and the adjacent
| batber shop. (Pgs. 20-21.)

| When individuals in the stote started raising their voices, after previously spccaldﬁg with
muffied yoices, Stiles was able to heat “I want the money in the safe, open the safe” (Pg.
21.) Stiles id;antiﬁed three voices: Mr. Vega and two other voices. (Pg 21.) After what Stiles
| desctibed as an argoment that was not %ery long, she heatd a gunshot. (Pg. 22.) She saw two |-
l| black males leaving the store and going actoss the street. (Pg. 22) One black male was the
: individual she had previously seen crossing the street and entering the store; the other was
des§ﬁbed as being smmaller, (Pg. 23.) Stiles saw the two men's faces clearly because they
| looked in her direction as they wete exiting the stose, Stiles saw the men go across the street
and she kept walking back in the ditection from. which she had come from. Su'ies saw 2 |’
black git] across the street from Lo Cas Gmerz.A (Pg. 23.) Pec Stiles, black girl is Mary Boyd,
and is with two white guys sitting in front of another store actoss fhe street from La Casa
Green. (Pg. 24.) Stiles testified that she has s@ the smaller black man before in the
neighb_o—r_;wd; about six times within a couple of weeks before the murder. (Pgs. 24-25)
| Stiles left that area and went to the Du&:iﬂ’ Donuts on Feery Steeet. Stiles Bcd in the area
j| and was atrested on Ferry Street, close to whest she lived and pear Lz Casa Grien. (Pg: 35.)
-On cross-exatpination, Stiles confirmed she was at intersection of Grand dnd Ferty at
about §:30 am. (Pg. 43) After going to bed at ridnight and getting up. at about 4 'a.m.,
Stiles Jeft her hou'se at about 430 a.m. and asrived at Grand and Ferry at ghout 4:50 am. to
get some coffee and a dougbuist a¢ the Dunkin’ Doguts. (Pgs. 44~45:)' According to Stiles,

Dunkin’ Donyts on Fe:ty Street is not close to L Casa Green. (Pg. 45.) She often went to
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La Casa Green to say hello to Mr. Vega, see how he was doing, and get cigarettes. (Pg. 45.) It
was pot het intention to go to the La Casa Green for similar reasons on July 4, 1993. (Pg.
46.), but after leaving her place and stopping at Dunkin’ Donuts, decided after awhile to say
hello to Mt. Vega. (Pg. 46.)

Stiles was then asked about how far Duakin’ Donuts is from L2 Case Green. Pex Stiles,
Dunkin’ Donuts on Ferry Street was not very fat away from La Casa Green on Grand

Avenue, and it takes het about five minutes to walk that distance. Pg. 51.) The bank clock

indicated 5:30 a.m. and, due to the fve-minute walk, that is how Stiles estimated the 535 |

aum, arddval time at La Casa Groen. (Pg. 52.)
The black girl Stiles saw a¢ she arrived at La Cass Green was not Mary Boyd. (Pg. 53}
Stiles had lived in that area for about three yeass. (Pgs. 53-54)

Stdes indicated that what she heazd standing in the alleyway next to La Casa Green was

“Give me the money, open the safe” and heard some of Mr. Vega’s voice in. Spanish. (Pg

61). The talking she overheard lasted less than a minute, according to Stiles. (Pg. 61) She
heard the shot shortly after hearing “Give me the n;oney, open ithe safe.” (Pg. 61) The
sonnds/voices appeatcd to l;e comming from the middle t6 the back of the stote. (Pg. 62.)
Stiles' indicated that she was already out of the alleyway and tunied around and, after
mmmg atound, saw the two black males exit the stol:e (Pgs. 63-64.) She only very quickly
glanced their faces from about twenty feet away. (Pg. 64.) Maty Boyd also lefe the atea at
the satrie time as Stiles, also heading toward Grand and Ferty. (Pg. 66.) Boyd was ahead of

Stiles and walking on the sidewalk of the other side of Grand Avenue.

]
3
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Doreen Stiles™ -

On direct examination, Stiles festiﬁed that she lcift het place at about 4 a.m, (Pg. 7.) She
stated that she was on her way over to the stote and got.to Grand and Ferty. (Pg. 7.) Sules
confirwed it was her intent to go to the store when;. she left her home, but then added that
she was also thinking about going for doughnuts 'md coffee at Duqk'm’ Donuts at Grand
and Ferty. (Pg. 8.) Pet Stiles, she arrived at the comfer 'of Grand and Fetry at about “twenty-
five of five,” or 4:35 a.m. (Pg. 9.) Stiles knew that \ivas the time because of the bank clock,
which she said was not very accutate and migh£ hm?re been off by 5-6 n:ﬁnutes, even though
she did not wear a watch. (Pg. 9.) . | |

Stiles walked. from Grand and Fetty iuterse;ctidréx towards La Case Green® He estimate
was that it took her about fifteen minutes to get to: where she could see the La Casa Green
store. (Pg. 10.) That is, she was approaching the ;store, still about a block away, fifteen
rminutes after depatting Grand and Fé:ry. (Pg. 10) As she approached the stot(‘: at.that time,
Stiles s;aw a blf;ck male who appeared menacing tc; her. (Pg..10.) Stiles then recalled, after
her recollection was refreshed with the PC hearing ;tra.uscﬁpt, that she first saw a tl;:in'black
female in front of La Casa Greon. (Pgs. 11-12.). ' .

Stiles walked to the side of the building as quicﬁy a3 her disability would petoit and hid
out of fear. (Pg, 17.) She stood ;ery close to the bu:ilding, almost leaning om it. (Pgs. 18-19.)

Stiles heard a commotion, arguing, but could not heartoo well thtou'gﬁ the wall; the sounds

2 Petidoner's Rxhibit 5 (Tr, Januacy 19, 1995). This is the transeript of the eatie (Le., unedited) proceeding
conducted at the hospital. The video tape shown to the jury was edited to femove sustained objections. The
foregoing summary is from the uncdited proceeding. ' .

21 Sriles’ testimony during the criminal trial does sot establish a specific departure time,
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then Mt. Vega became very upset. (Pg, 23.) Accofding to Stiles, she knew Mr. Vega was

j| upset because he was screaming in Spanish at the top of his lungs. (Pg. 23.)

|| cven concern for het lifc. (Pg. 23.) While she descx:'{bed Mz, Vega’s voice as screaming, the

|| other two voices were angty and atgumentative. (Pg. 23.) After a couple-of minutes, Stiles

j| there was no eye contact. (Pg. 25.) Stiles saw the two men go actoss the street and head

: back in the direction they came ftom (Pg- 30) Sulcs statted walking toward the Dunkin’

confirmed the time on the clock; located on top bf the Bank of Boston at the corner of

were muffled. (Pg- 22.) She could discern three sepiatate, distinct voices, recognizing one zs

Me, Vega’s. (Pg. 22.) Stiles distincty heard words abiont opening the safe, abouit money, and
Stiles then got very nervous because of her Iack of speed, concern for her safety, and

heard z single gun shot. (Pg. 24.) She froze out of fear, but tried to get away as best as she
can, given her had disability. (Pg: 24.) Stiles left the allepway and the two black men exited

La Casa Groen. (Pg. 24.) The two black men lookéd;around, but not dixectly 2t Stiles, so that

Donuts at Grand and Ferry, saw Maty Boyd on the other side of the street, but fa:ther

ahead. (Pg. 31.) :

On ctoss-cxamination, Stiles indicated that bccfmse she did not bave a watch, she was
uncertain that she left het house at appro:dmateéy 4 am. (Pg. 47) She assumed it was
around that time because when she fitst arzived éat the cotnet of Grand and Fciu;y, the

panks clock indicated the fime was “twenty-five of five” (Pgs. 47-48) Stiles again

Grand and Ferty, which was “rwenty-five of five.”. (Pg 48) The bank clock had fout faces.
1 The titnes on the faces were always different ftom cach other, (Pg. 49.) The clock facing

| Grand was indicating 4:35 a.m. and was 5-6 mmqtes off, according to Stiles. (Pgs- 50-51.)
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|| direction, allowing Stiles to see their faces for one cf>r two seconds. (Pg- 53.)

| saw the black male entering the store and the tune the two black males Jeft L# Casa Groen,
Stiles indicated ten minutes. (Pgs. 74-75,) Stiles was unablé to pinpoint a precise time when

| she saw the black tmale enter La Case Green. (Pgs. 75-76.)-

her possible encounter with them. (Pgs. 83-84.) Sitiles did not know that there was more

than one black male uatil she overheard the voice% from hex location in the alleyway. (Pgs.

Stiles indicated fifteen or twenty minutes. (Pg 28"7.) Atty. DeMarco asked a seties of

| questions pestaining to the discrepancy betwéen'ﬂéxe five and fifteen minute estimations of

il closer to the correct time and only off by several mmutes According to Stiles, she went by.

Stiles was at the corner of Grand where the cloék was, and had not gone as far 25 the
' Dunkin’ Donuts. (Pg. 51.)
Stiles was able to see the two black men comin%g out of the store.from where she stood

and observed them crossing the stteet. The two men in 2 gencral way glanced in her

When asked to tell, as best as she could, how much time passed berween the time she|

Stiles did not feel the danger presented by the ‘threatening black male who crossed the
street and eatered La Casa Green had passed whexil he entered the store. (Pgs. 83-84.) She

felt the danger to her by the single black male would continue until “chey” left the store and

84-85.) Aftet hearing the shot and still fn:ghtcncd, %tlles Jeft the alleyway and headed toward

Grand Avenue. (Pg. 86.) :
Whea asked how long it takes her to walk f.roné 1.2 Casa Gteen to the Dunkin’ Donuts,

how long it took Stiles to walk this distance. (Pgs. 5126-13'1.) Stiles indicated that of the fous

clocks above the bank, three weze very inaccorate and one, although still inaccurate, was
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the clock that was only off by several minutes. (Pg. 133) Stiles testified that all the
individuals whc; hung atound that area and neededf to know the titme knew that the most
accurate of the four clocks was about five or six min?ntes fast. (Pg. 133.)
Maxy Boyd{2

On direct cxaminatioh, Boyd testiffed that she%: was out-;and-about on the streets at
approximately 5:30 a.m., July 4, 1993. (Pg. 39.) She gresided within several blocks of L« Casa
Green. (Pg. 40.) Boyd was outside La Casa Gn»zen across the street from the store, and saw
individuals in the store. (Pg, 43.) After she saw: the ;ndmduals in the store, Boyd continuet
walking down Grand Avenue and ran into Tasha Wﬂhams near James Street. (Pgs. 47-48)

Boyd and Williams talked briefly and thea Boyd continned to James Street and stayed in

that location for approximately five to eight minutc::*,s._ (Pgs. 49-50.) Boyd then headed back

up Grand Avenue to La Casa Green. (Pg. 50.)

Boyd went into La Casa Groey after aredving tlu-:téc. Boyd picked up a roll of Scott tissue,
yelled out to Mr. Vega, but got no sesponsc. The stsore appeated etapty to her, (Pgs. 50-51)
Boyd checked ateqs in the stote, mcludmg the alsles and the bathroom, but could not locate
Mz, cha (Pg 51.) After this search, Boyd emted the store and went to Mr. Vega’s van to
sce if he was there, but could not Jocate him thete elthu: and went back into the store. Boyd
noticed the freezer, which she did not know v_ras Sm the back of the store, with the doot
closed. Boyd then left the store again and &e.!leid for Tasha Williams, and sought her

assistance in checking the freezer because someti:ing seemed wrong with the store left

unattended. (Pgs. 51-52.) : ' ’ :

22 petitioner’s Fxhibit 6 (L'x. January 20, .1995).
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Boyd talked to Wx]liaz'ns, who was up in her aipartment and spoke to Boyd from the
window, and who indicated she would not go into ;he store. Boyd again went into the store
and placed a call to 911. (Pg..52.) |

Boyd, who knew Stiles, did ﬁot see Stiles ot any of these various frips in and ;ut of the
store, nor did she see Stiles upon walking away Eronix the La Casa Gm:;. avea. (Pgs. 69-70.)

On ctoss-examination, Boyd testified she knew Stiles vexy well and had seen het many
times in the area. (Pg. 72.) According to Boyd, it tti)ok her abour ten minutes to walk from
La Casa Green, after she made the 911 call, to ) d.tug house on the comet of James and
Grand. (Pg. 83.) Boyd left L4 Casa Groon around 5:245 a.tn.'and arrived at the drug house at
;xbout 5:55 a.m, (Pg. 83.) : |

Boyd estimated that if she walked from the cortéer of Grand and Ferry to La Casa Green,
it would take hex approximately six or seven ;ﬁlntixtes. (Pgs. 88-89). Although she was not

wearing 2 watch, Boyd felt the times she was mdxcaung were “pretty close.” (Pg. 90) Boyd

reiterates that she left her house around 5:4§ asin. and saw the individusls in the store '

between 5:45 a.m., but before 6:00 a1, (Pgs. §6-97E.)

Boyd’s search for Mr. Vega inside the store, Whi(i:h she had been in many times, resulted
in her for. the first timei discovering that thete was a walk-in freezet. Boyd did not, however,
see the open safe immediately outside the fceezér déoc;:. (Pes. i04.—1 05.) -Accquing to Boyd,

it was duting her second tip into the stoze that shei noticed the freezer for the first time,

Pg. 105)
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1 The Ttue Testimony of Doreen St‘(les. Igreé‘entcd at the Habeas Trial
2 As previously found, this Cout assigns full 'crcédit to the testimony of Ms. Stiles as to
3 || what took place on the motaing of July 4%, 1993 i:;:o be that version offered at the habeas
‘ 4 |l trial, het 2009 testimony. In this vetsion, we ﬁnd that Ms. Stiles, then approximately 35
| 5 [ll years of age, dryg addicted and living with her bé)yﬁ:icnd at 142 Humphtey Street, New
6 Il Haven, CT arose around 3:00 AM ‘and prepared fot"f “wotk.” She left her home around 4:00
7 || AM and headed down Lombard Street, ultimately andmg up at the Dunkin’ Donuts on the
8 |ll comer of Grand and Ferry. She ordered some cofi‘:‘ee and saw from the clock on the bank
9 | building across the street that it' was something likc 4:30 AM in the moming when she
10 [l arrived. Officer Wortz of the New Haven Policé, Depattment came in to buy coffee at
11 {fi about the same time. He was on foot patrol in th_e i'aIcu. After Ms Stiles ﬁn.ished het coffee
12 _sl;e then procéed up Ferry Strect to Chatham St;rect where she engaged in prostitution, .
13 soliciting sex for money. She had one “client,” at 'app:oximately 5:00 AM. After that
14 Il encounter, she continued to walk up and down Fe.l%:ry Stteet soliciting sex fot tnoney s she
15 ;:oqld purchase heroin, She was never in the -@idxglity of Lz Casz Green on the morning of
16 jf July 4" 1993.. Consequenﬂy, all of her tesimony ’that she saw the petiionets, Gould and
17 [fl Tayloz, committing the murder is completely and uétcﬂy falsified. |
18 [l The falsity can also be distilled from the times f;rovide.d by Stilés and Boyd, as outlined
19 '. above:in their pre-habeas testimonies, Thete axe’ two critical times that are kaown with
26 precision: 5 08 a.m., when the alarm systemn in: La Ca.ra Gwm was deactivated;™ and"5:42

2 See State’s Exhibit 53, the state’s and pctittonets’ sup\ﬂauon ﬂom the crimingl trial. Tn accordsnce with
Practice Book § 23-36, the court will treat this cxhibit as paxt of the recoxd be:foze tlus habeas cou:t

'\.
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a.mn,, when Mary Boyd made the call to 911.% These two titnes cstablish a thicty-four minute

window in which Mr. Vega was murdered.

~

Accotding to her criminal trial testimony, Boyd?was outside La Casu Green at 530 am,

Stiles testified at the criminal trial that she left the %:omer of Grand and Fetry at 4:35 am,
as indicated by the one bank clock that was off by 53;6 minutes. If the clock was 5-6 minutes
fast, then her departure time in reality was 4:2974-:3()2 a.n. if the clock was 5-6 minutes slow,
] then her departure time in reality was 4:40-4:41 9_1'30. Per Stiles, it took her at least fifteen,
possibly up to twenty minutes, to walk from Gmnd and Ferry to La Casa Green. Using even
the latest departure time (4:41 am.) and travel t_%ime (twenty 'n'zinutes), resules in Stiles
| a.n:lvmg at the store several minutes bgfors the a]znn was deactivated at 5:08 amn. Her
j| testimony that she witnessed the single black rmlc crossing the street and then cnter the
i store, with the othet black male and Mr. Vega akéad}v in the store with the alamm not yet
deactivated, is not just implausible but ixnpossil;le.

"The other times provided by Stiles, those in'het july 29, 1953 statement and.tésdmouy at
| the October 14, 1993 heating in probaiale céuse,? also show that Stiles could ot have
witnessed the events. Ac;:ord_ing to the statement nnd heating in probable cause, Stiles left
| the Grand and Petty intessection at 5:30 am? anc:L afeer a five-minute walk, artived at_'Ld
Casa Groen ot 5:35 aan. Then, once there, abo;lt tﬁn nﬁnutés elapsed between Sﬁlp-s séeing
the one black. male entet Lo Casa Green and the itw;o black mmales exiting the stote. This

scenario has Stiles attiving seven minutes priot to léoy'd’s 911 call and on the scene as.Boyd

il 2¢ Sek State’s Bxhibsir 54; the statc’s and petitioness’ stipulation from the crimiaal trial. As with State’s Exhibit
il 53, the coust will also tregt this cxhibit as part of the expanded record. :
li 5 Stiles indicated. in‘her statement that she knew it was 5:35 s because she looked at the bank clock. The
} bank clock ran half an houz slow, per Stilcs, resulting in an actual time (§f'the clock was 30 minutes slow) of
} about 5:05 2.0 T .o )
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is going in-and-out of the store several times s;earcbing for Mr. Vega. Boyd did not,
however, see Stiles dudng het trips in-and-out of La Casa Greeri. As with the other time line
provided dutng the criminal tdal, the smcment/h;aling in probable cause time line is not
just implausible but iﬁpossible. :

Given the varying times and estimations of txxncs by witnesses, aﬁ imprecise and
conflicting, it is understandable why the juty .focésed on Stiles’ credibility as to what she
heard and saw outside La Casa Green, as weli asg her in-courr identifications of the two
pe(:idonezs; A&omcy DeMatco very cEf'cctiv%ely highlighted  the fo:egoiﬁg. time
inconsistencies in his closing atgutnents to the ;uxy. See Petitioncfs.Exhibit' 11 (Tt Janwary
30, 1995), at pgs. 71-87, 126-29, Nevertheless, thei precise titnes that cv«':nfs occutred were

not ctitical for the jury to reach its verdicts, as the times in general wese used primarily to

help undermine Stiles’ credibility. It is now rather ai)parcnt that Stiles was evolving het story

so that she was “present” at La Casz Greex at ox.% around the time the murder occurted.
Now, subsequent to the credible rccantation, the very same times that show Stiles could not
have witnessed the events also.show the .total imPlia.usibi]ity of Stiles being at the scene apd
seeing the petitioners. State somewhat diﬂ'erentl:y, the ﬁmeé, now buttress- this - coutt’s
ﬁodmg that the present-day recantations are credlble |

There is no doubt in this Coutt’s mmd that the cﬂmmal ttiz] testimony of Doreen Stiles,

the witness upon whotn the prosecution’s case nseg and falls, was per;unous. The Court o0

specificdlly finds.
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Why did Doteen Stiles Lie at the Petitionets’ Otiginal Trial?
Having concluded that Ms, Stiles testified falscly in 1995, the question remains: why

would she do sor Simply put, Ms. Stiles, in 1993, was a deeply troubled woman, addicted to

heroin (10 bags a day), and engaging iu prostitution %to fuel her habit. Enter the New Haven

Police Department seeking to solve the mutder of' Mt. Vega. Having been provided with
information that a woman meeting the descriptiion of Doreen Stiles was seen in the
vicinity,” the New Haven Police began to look for%l;u in order to find out what she knew
about this mutder. On July 29%, 1993, Ms. Stiies Wi‘as pms@g her trade on Ferry Street in
New Haven when she was arrested for prostituﬁc;n by an undetcover police officer and
transported to the New Haven Police Deparnﬁent%aromd 6:15 PM for processing. Upon
arrival, she was taken up to the third floot whete the detectives are housed and encounteted
Detectives Sullivan and Gleason. They asked Ms. Stiles if she knew anyth,ing';b'out the
murder on July 4%, 1993, Ms. Stiles zeplied that §he§ did not know anything about what had
taken place. Sixe wag then informed by the Defec‘ti%es that they had a.statement from Maty
Boyd that showed Ms. Stiles was present and that if she did not tell them what they needed

to hear, that she would be taken downstairs and bqtéked on the charge of prostitution.

2 Yt is also significant that this tdbit of information is dezived from the 1993 New Haves Police Depastment
interviews of Ms. Maty Boyd, another druy addicted person’ known to frequeat the location near La Cata
Green. Ms. Boyd has likcwisc come into this habeas court and recanted her testimony at the osiginal criminal
tdat insofar as it weat to identify Ms, Stiles as being seon'in the vicinity of Ls Cara. Grin on the moming of
the murdor, Ms, Boyd who has now madc maajor changes in her lifestyle and is drug free stated at the habeas
trla) that when she was interviewed by the New Haven: polide in 1993 regarding what she kaew zhout this
matter, she had been threateried with having her children ‘taken away by DCF if she did not provide the
information that the police were looking for. ' . : .
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1 At this point, it had been some time since Ms. Stdea had ihgcsted heroin. In her words,
2 || she was becoming “dopesick”n and simply wanted to go home, Nevertheless, the
3 |ll detectives, in patticular, Det. Brian Sullivan, kept pressing hef to tell them what she koew,
4 ffj even in the facc of the sepeated denials of any knowledge by Ms. Stiles. As the evening
5 ||| progtessed, Ms. Stiles teported het symptoms began to Wo.rsen and that she only wanted to
6 ||l go home, yet the police continued to interrogate her for as much as six or seven hours,
7 il Ultimately, Detective Sullivan told her that he would assist her to buy heroin if she told
8 [l them WhatAhappened. The detectives than showed her some photographs. When Ms. Stiles
9 [l was shown photos of the petitioners, she testified that the detectives began to smile at each
10 §! other and asked her if she had ever seen these men. Picking up on these not-so-subile
11 [§ hints, she undé:stood that these photos wete of the persons the police wanted to atvest, so
12 [l Ms. Stlles falsely said she had seen the men at La Casg Green. She provided further details,
13 [ff ip zesponse l‘.;) the suggestive questions of the police, about what happened at the store on
14 [fl the moming of July 4* 1993, Apptoximately six hours after her a::zival, Ms. Stiles ‘was
15 [} finally allowed to leave the police station, She reporis that she did so in the company of
16 ﬁetecﬁv% Sullivan and GEason who gave her $60.00. and drove her to Wolcott Street
17 ||| whete she purchased heroin with.the money she was given. Aftetwards they drove ber
18 . i home.
19 Ms. Stiles did testify int person at the Hearing in Probable Cause. The night before her |
20 (i appearance at the courthouse, Detectives Sullivan ‘an'd Gleason artived at her home to pick

27 M. Stlles deserfbes “dopesick” as being terrible. Thete is cramping, watering eyes, vomitiag, sacczlng, one
gets hot, one gets cold, ete.. Notwithstanding this testimony, the habeas Court did listen to an audiotapc of
Ms. Stiles talldug to the police for the sole purpose of how it might be selevant to her claim of being
“dopesick.” Ms, Stllcs's voico on this andiotape does not sound as if shé wese in acute distress.
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Detectives at the habeas ttial, What is most intetesting about this testimony is that the

up both Ms. Stiles and her boyftiend (he was also a heroin addict). They took them to the

Pask Plaza Hotel (a fancy, if not swank, hotel in New Haven). The detectives took Ms.

Stiles and het boyfriend out for dinner that night where she had a dinner of stuffed shrimp, |

Duting the early morning hours, Ms. Stiles and her boyfriend were in need of more heroin,

so she testificd that the police took her out to buy some.

The counsel for the Respondeant inttoduced the testimony of sevetal New Haven Police

police officars confirm most of the testimony that Doreen Stiles provided to this habeas
court, although, to be sute, the police did deny providing Ms. Stiles with money to buy
drags. Bven the late night rrips that Ms. Stiles related in ber testimony werc confirmed by
the testimony of the police, although whete Ms. Stiles said the purpose of these trips was to
puxch.asc heroin, the police indicate that it was for the putpose of picking up clothing at her
home.

The Problems with the State’s Case

The state alleged that the petitioners committed this crime while they were robbing Mt.

Vega. The state theory is that the petitioners wete two crack addicts who had been |

committing sevéral stmall strcet tobbeties to obtain money with which to buy crack cocaine.
Thete are several key facts that cause this Coutt to qrestion the robbery motive as to why

M. Vega was murdered.

Fitst is the fact that the cash register for the store was open and had somcthing like

$100.00 n it. T js logical to believe that two crack addicted thugs whose main concesn

was to get some money with which to buy mote drugs would pass up this highly visible,
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easily taken, source of quick cash. Nevertheless, the cash register was undistutbed.
Motreover, the police found the victim with a wad of bills in his pocket totaling something
Jike $1,800.00. To be s‘u:c, M, Vega’s wallet had been sifled znd no cash was found in it
!l With the motive to comuit robbery in ordet to get money -for drugs, it seems odd that
these easy soutces of cash would have been passed by. Thete ate no signs of any stxugg,ie
‘ ha.ving taken place in the store,

Second, there are no signs of any strugple or heated argument having taken place.
Nothing in the stote was out-of-place, no bo;xes ot groceties wete thrown ‘t;o the floor. The
victim’s clothing was not at all disheveled. He appears to have been quietly tied up as if he
was most gooperaﬁve.

The state did theotize that the safe contiined some expengivé jewelty that had been
stolen-and that this was used to putchase drugs. There are .\‘.ev(;:tzl problems with this as
well. First, the evidence of the safe containing thc'jc\vclxy was sketchy at best with only the
victim's daughter testifying that she had last seen the contents of the safc as much as six
months eatlier. Second, there is no evidence of any of the missing jewelry ever having been
recovered. Thete was no evidence that the New Haven Police had canvassed local
pawnshops and found anyone matching the petitioners’ descriptions pawning jewelty.

ere is, therefore no conctete evideace that the jewelry was present in order to be stolen

| by the mutderer or murderers. The petitioners were not found to be in possession of any

I 25 Petitioner’s Exhibit 22 is the video shot by Det, Giice of the cme scens, The wallet can bg observed neady

propped up againyt 2 Box in plain view. None of the othex papers in the money compartment of the wallet

i appear out of place. While somewhat speculative, the manner in which this wallet is observed almost appeats

that ¢ Wrs deliberately placed in that position in oxder to be observed: It makes more sense for a robber to

have taken the cash out of the wallet, and in the process disturbing the other papers and then dropping the
wallet to the floox. i .
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| weapons. The petitioness did not have any money on them, There was ﬁo testimony of
them having money with which to buy crack. No ﬁgul)me of the petitioners were found
ll in the store or on Mr, Vega and no DNA evidence linking the petitioners to the ctime has
§i ever bect; found.

The petitioners wete also able to present credible evidence at the habeas trial that
|| scemingly implicates the victim’s son as a possible perpetrator of this crime. Mr. Jammes
| Stephenson testified as an expert in the field of fireatms examination, He had access to and
.pe‘rformed an analysis upon the projectile that kﬂled Mr. Vega and concluded that it was a
380 caliber projectle” that I;ad been fired from a gun capable of producing rifling
cha;éctexisdcs identified as six left. This means that there were six lands and grooves on the
projectile that twisted in the left hand direction, With ehis information, Mt. Stephenson was
, ‘able to opine that the weapon that fired the fatal projectile was fited from cither a Colt 380
| semi-autoratic pistol or a 9mm Colt semi-automatic pistol. “This testimony is essentially
what was conveyed to the jury in the petitionets’ criminal trial. What was new at the habeas
ttial was the opinion that another gan manufactuer’s product could also have been capable
’j of p.rodudng a projectile with the same rifling characteristics; that weapon is an AMT 380
l| semi-automatic pi;tol. M. Stephenson further testified that he could match the projectile

with a particular wedpon only if he had the weapon to test fite it%

2 M. Stephenson also admittod in his testimony that a 380 cartridge is also called a 9mm short round.

3 Yris a critical fact In this case that no zmisrder wegpon has ever bevn recovered in this casc. “As 4 result, there s
no way to definitively match the projectile in this case with 2 particular weapon. Mz, Stephenson offered bis |
estimate that thefe miy be as many as 100,000 or more weapons that could have been used to murder Mx
Vega and that he felt the murder weapon was most likely manufactaxed by Colt firearms, slthough he could
i not mle ont & pistol manwfactuced by the AMT company. . :

PAGE44 OF 58




" 03/17/2010 WED 14:51 FAX 8608703241 HABEAS CORPUS

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

18

On September 10, 2009, the petitionets produced the testinﬁény of Trooper Barbara
| Mattson of the Connecticut State Police, She is assigned to the épecial License and
Firearms unit. She located the records of firearms owned by the victim’s son, Calos
Deleon Vega. 'ihe Connecticut State Police records show that Mt. Deleon Vega owned
several firearms, including an AMT 380 semi-automatic pistol. Fe purchased this weapon
- (;n July 27, 1988 and ac;:ordh:xg to the zecords of the Connecticut State Police and the
federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, he was s#// the registered owner of this
weapon as of the date of Trooper Mattson’s appearance at the habeas tn'al.“.

At the next coutt date, the petitionets produced the testimony of Mr. }cécph Pagliaro
who owned the building across the street from Lo Cae Grees. Th{e' testimony was that

shortly before his muxder, the deceased was interested in purchasing this building and weot

so far as to gwc Mr. Pagliaro a check for $50,000.00 as a down payment. Unfortunately, the

[ check was retarned from the bank for insufficient funds. M. Pagliato visited with the
victim over at La C;am Green and roturned the check to him. M, Vega appeared surprised
? that t-his check did not clear because he stated that there was engugh money in the account
to cover the check. Indeed, Mr. Vega went so fat as to show him the check register that

had an adequate balance such that the check should have been paid. M. Pagliato

! 3t Interestingly, this 380 AMY' semi-automatic pistol is and temalns unaccounted for, This Court heard no
l avidencé as fo its current whereabouts, condition, or who may have had passession of it from July 4,1993.
3 Subsequeat 16 & felony conviction unrelated to this murder, Mr. Deleon Vega was placed on probadon and
H was tequited to surrendes his firearms to his probation officer. According to the testimony of the probation
Bl officer, Mr. Robert Santoemma; Mz, Deleon Vega did not tum ‘over any fircarms to him. However, on
| September 4, 2006, Officer Monique Cain of the New Haven Police Department stated that Me. Deleon Vega
l lid tom in 2 9mm Ruger plstol-and 4 25 cal. AMT Ranger pistol. The AMT' .380- pistol that could phssibly
! have produced the sifling characterstics found on the projectile found it the crme scene was never taken by
| the New Haven Police Deparumeat, nor was it ever tosted to see if it had fired the fatal shot,

|

apologized and told M, Viega that the bank did not agiee. Mr, Vega stated that he would '
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get back to M. Pagliaro about this, Of course, he was not ever able to do so because of his
death something like 2 month later. |

The next witness was 2 Ms. Margaret Anderson, the former branch manager at the now
defunct Shawmut Bank. She testified that her branch handled the commercial accounts for
La Casa Green. She was not familiar with the decedent, however she was ‘fa.tnilinr with
Catlos Deleon Vega who was a frequent visitor to the bank and @de the deposits for Ia
Casa Green.  Ms. Am‘ierson did report meeting Mr. Vega one time and that v;as shostly
before his death when he came into the bank in ordet to hlvesﬁgate the missing $50,000.00.
Mr-:. Vega was agitated and wa.ving ‘papers around.” As 2 result of this meeting, Ms. '
Andesson discovered that the reason the $50,000 check bounced was because there were
|| several otlier checks written on the account that wete for cash and had been negotiated in
| the branch.¥ Mz, Vega was informed that in o:;;lez to pursue the mattes f&ithez, he would
have to agrec to coépaate in a prosceution of whoevet nﬁght. be found to be the
perpetrator. Mr. Vega never pursned reimbursement or prosecution because he was
murdeted a fairly shott time™ after this meeting. |

On the basis of this r‘:‘-ridence, one wuid conclude that Carlos Deleon Vega should imve
been a suspect in his father'’s murder. The evidence suggests that he had a motive to

commit this crime. ‘The testimony sugpests that Mt. Deleon Vega. may have been

2 fhese was lttle to no documentaty evidence available to be introduced at the habeas txial about this
il incident, although Ms. Anderson did tesdfy with 2 rematkéhle degree of dctail. She stated that this was one of
Ml five missing funds cascs in which she was Javolved in her buaking career’so she had, & very good zecall of the
Ml events. Ms. Anderson testificd that she did conduct her own investigation into what was happeniog and she
H found that there were several checks that appeared to be signed by Mr. Bugenio Vega however Mr. Vega
Hl denicd issuing the checks. She knew who Catlos Deleon Vega was. She called bim flamboyant and one who
1 vioually deew attention to himsclf when he caie into the bank. Fie weat most frequently to one teller, Ms.-
Weady Sullivan. She confirmed to Ms. Anderson that these chocks were for cash, - ) '
| 33 Ms. Anderson testified that it was within 2 month of his death. )
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embezzling money from his father. The son had the means to commit this crime in that he

projectile. Howevet, despite this circumstantial evidence that could point at M. Delcon

Vega, there is no forensic cvidence that directly ties him to this murder” No murder

j weapon was recoveted, none of his fingerprints wese found at the ctime scene, and of

paramount itaportance, his DNA was not on the extension cord that was used to bind his
| father’s hands. As succinctly stated by counsel for the Respondent in the post-trial bricf,
| the absencc of Mr. Deleon Vegns DNA on the cord “would mcctate Petitioners’ third

patty culpability claim.” As paach as Mt, Deleon Vega is exonerated by the DNA analysis,

| 10 too are the petitioners axa;zarated, as their DNA also is not on the electrical cord.

The real import of the “third party culpability” evidence is o that it establishes that

| someone else committed the crime, but that it shows that the New Haven Police

Department seized upon the false testimony of Dc;xeen Stiles and then used it to esseatially

.ma:k the case as cleared. Thereafter, the police mvcsugauon took on the statug of gospel as

the case made its way thtough the criminal justice process. Fot Doteen Stiles, as the case

the police were willing to extend her to keep her coopetative combined to keep her from

| revealing the trath, Tt beats poiating out that this Court s convinced that none of the

govemmcntal ofﬁctals involved in this prosecution of these two men actually fa]slﬁed any
| evidence, although had they been a bit more skeptical'as to what Doreen Stiles provided in

1993, pethaps these erroneous convictions cotld have been prevented.

3 Ttis lnte:esdng that this cin:umstannal evidence is stronger than the evidmce that poiats to Gould and

| Taylor when the Doreen Stles testimony is mmovcd.

owned an AMT' 380 pistol that was capable of producing rifling similar to the crime scene

progressed, her exposute for revealing that she had lied and the loss of the “benefits” that |
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As previously noted, the evidence of a raurdex baving taken place is clear® What is not
proven js that it was Ronald Taylor and George Gould who committed this crime, There
was po fingerprint cvidence, there was no murder weapon recovered, there were no “fruits
of the crime” recovered and thete was no DNA evidence at the ctitne scene that in any way
ll linked the petitioners to this crime, Particularly telling is the testimony of Detective Lezoy
Dease of the New Haven Police Depaxtmgnt At the habeas trial, Detective Dease, the lead
Ill investigator on this case was asked what evidence, aside from the testimony of Doreen
' Stiles, linked cither of the petitior.xers to the crime™ and Detective Dease responded, “Réght
3 sow, 1 cannot answer ti)at.qtmtioﬂ right nosw. But, throngh onr. ..tbm:g;_zb onr investigation, . wh. . through
onr interview, . .wh. .. sith certain pwgla Iod us to believe. . Jed us fo believe these two individuals committed
#his crime.” ‘This answer shows that, indeed, the Doreen Stiles statement is the keystoﬁe of
‘the evidence upon which these convictions rest.”’

Moreovet, upon closer examination of the criminal trial testimony of Doteen Stiles and
Mary Boyd, now considea:ea in the light of the recanted testimonies of both womnen, it can

clearly be seen that the stoty told by Ms. Stiles in 1993.1995 simply cannot be true.

There is a critical difference between the legal status of a petson who has been accused

| of a crime as opposed to one who has been convicted of a ctime. While the person who

35 As an aside, it should be noted that the petitioners were charged with murder, yet wese acquitted of that
Yl crime by the juty. This seems an odd sesult that the jury would not find that the elements of murdes were
il eseablished glven that Me, Vege was found seated in his cooler with his hands bound aad shot execution-siyle.
Jt would sccm that the facts strongly support a finding that a musder did, in fact, take place.

4 Judge Fuges: “Now I want you to take some time to think about this. Aside from the statements givea by
Mary Boyd and Dorcen Stlles, wha evidence, either direct or circumstantial, did you find ox develop that
finked Mr. Gould aad M. Tayloz to this murder?” R

31 A keystone is 2 good analogy, the definition of which is “a centeal stone at the sumsmit of an atch, locking
the whole together” If one removes the keystose, the arch falls. '
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swift and imperatiﬁc remedy in all cases of illegal festraint or confinemesit. It i of

22

|| evea though our courts have recognized that “a substantal claim of actual innocence is
| cognizable by way of a petition for a wiit of habeas corpus, even in the absence of proof by
| the petitioner of an antecedent constitutional violation that affected the resulf of his
| criminal erial » Summorofll vs: Wardn, 229 Conn. 397 at 422 (1994), the burden of proving

entitlement to the grant of 2 writ rests with the petitioner. “Thus, in the eyes of the law,

| at 422.

Il Great Writ, habeas cotpus ad subjiciendum, in Anglo-American jurisprudence: ‘the most

l cclcbrated writin the English law.’ 3 Blackstone Commentaries 129. It is ‘4 writ antecedent

has been accused of a crime is entitled to a presumption of his or het innocence, the
petitioner in a habeas cogpus petition is not, “qt is undoubtedly true that ‘[a] pezson when
fest charged with a crime is entitled to 2 presumption of innocence, and may insist that his

guilt be established beyond a reasonable doubt, Ir » Winsh, 397 U.S. 385, 90 S.Cr: 1068,

|2 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Hemera v. Colins, 506 U.S. 390, 113 S.Ct. 853, 859, 122 L. Ed. 2d |

203 (1993). ... The presumption of innocence, however, does not outlast the jﬁdgmcnt of

[the] petitioner does not come befote the Coutt as onc who is ‘innocent, but on the

contraty as one who has been convicted by due process of law.” Summerville vs. Warden, infra.

The writ of habeas. corpus is an ancient and time-honored componeat of out Anglo-

Aetican jusisprudence, “We do well to bear in mind the extraordinary prestige of the

the most impottant writ kaown to'the constitutional law of England, affording as it does a

-

convicton at trial” .S‘r/wmnri//é vs. Warden, 229 Conn, 397 at 422-423 (1994). Consequently, | -

to smﬁute,la'nd throwing its zoot deep into the genius of our common law. ... It is pethaps
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immemorial antiquity, an instance of its use occurting in the thirty-third year of Edwatrd
1”® Fay vs. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 at 399 (1963). When .the United S\.‘ztcs achieved
independence from England, the writ was embodied in our law as well. “Received iato ou
own law in the colonial period, given explicit recognition in the Federal Consﬁmﬁong A ],
§ 9, ¢l. 2, incorporated in the first grant of federal court jutisdiction, Act of September 24,
1789, c. 20, § 14, 1 Stat. 81.82, habeas corpus was eatly confirmed by Chief Jusdce John
Magshall to be 2 ‘great constitutional privilege.” Ex parte Bollan and Swariwont, & Cranch 75,
95.” Fay vs. Noz"a, infra at 400 (1963). | |

Issuance of & wiit of habeas cotpus is a remedy whose “most basic traditiops and
| purposes ate to avoid the grievous wrong of holding a petson in custody in violation of the
federal constitﬁﬁo‘n and thereby protéct: individuals from unconstitutional convictions and
help guarantee the integrity of the criminal process by ensuring that trials are fundamentally
fair” O'Neal v5. McAnmich, 513 U. S. 432 at 442 (1995). Moreover, when a court reviews 2
‘petition for habeas corpus, “it must decide whether the petitioner is in.custody in violation
I of the Constitution or laws or tte'aﬁes of the United States. The coutt does not review a
judgment, but tile lawfulness of the petidoner’s custody simpliciter.” C;o/mmu v, T) I)M/ﬁm:,
g 501 US. 722 at 730 (1991). So, the writ of habeas corpus “has been for centuries esteemea

i the best and only sufficient defense of pessonal freedom Lonchar vs. Thowas, 517 U. S. 314

3¢ Bdward [ reigned in England in the late 13% centuty AD.
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Ineffective Assistance of Trial Defense Counsel

A criminal defendant has an absolute Constiturional right to persist in 2 plea of not

He or she has an absolute right to hold the goveminent to its justifiably higﬁ burden of
fl proof and take the satter to a juty of his ot her peers. The Constitution of the United
j States, the Bill of R.ighté,_ and the Constitution of the State of Connecticut collectively

guarantee the fundamental right of 4 person to plead not gnilty and have his or her case

decided before a juty of his or het peets. Our common law has interpreted these

| freedom must first prove that person’s guilt beyond all reasonable dowbt®  Moxcover, all
‘ criminal defendants are entitled to the represwtaﬁoﬁ of counsel. The sixth amendment to
| the United States constitution provides in relevant part: "In all ceirninal prosecutions, the
_ accused shall enjoy the ﬁght . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him . . . and to
have the assistance of counsel for his defense.” The sixth amendment right of con&optation
and right to counscl is made applicable to the states through the due provess clause of the
fourteenth amendment. See Pointor v, Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 LEd.2d
1| 923 (1965), and Gideon . Wainwright, 372 US. 335, 83 SCt. 792, 9 LEd2d 799 (1963),

| respectively. The Sixth amendment right to counsel is the right to an effective counsel.

11 %° “The requirement that guilt of a criminal charge be established by proof beyond a reasonable doubt dates at
Ieast from our easly years as a Nation. The ‘demand for-a higher degree of persuasion in criminal cases was
srecurrently expressed from ancient times, [thoughj its ceystallization into the fotmula “beyond a reasonable
| doubt! scems to have ocentred as late as 1798, It is now accepted in common law jurisdictions as the measure
| of perenasion by which the prosecution must convinee the: trer of all cssential elements of guilt™ I r¢

Winship, 397 US. 358 ax 361 (1970).

”

guilty, cven in the face of seemingly insurmountable obstacles and overwhelming evidence. |

Constitutional guaraatees as tequiting that the government seeking to deptive a person of |
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Any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must satisfy both prongs of the test set

forth by the United States Supteme Courtin S, trickland vs. Washington, 466 U. S. 688, 104 S.

Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674, reh. denicd 467 U. S, 1267, 104 S. Ct. 3562, 82 L. Ed. 2d (1984)
before the Cout can grant relief. Specifically, the petitioner must first show “that counsel's
performance was deficient. This tequires showing that c01-msel made errots so serjous that
counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guatanteed the defendant by the Sixth
Amendment.” Stickland, infrz 2t 687, If, and only if, _tbe petitioner manages to get over the
first hurdle, then the petitioner must clear the second obstacle by proving “that the
deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors

10 [l were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trisl whose result Is reliable.

11 W Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction ... resulted

12 [t from 2 breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.” S#ickiand,

13 (Il énfra at 687. In shoxt, the petitioner must show both deficiency and prejudice. A failure to

14 pro\re both, cven though céunsel’s trial performance may have been substandard, vwill result
15 ‘#l in denial of the petition.
16 As already noted, a ctiminal defendant is eatitled to the representation of trdined and

17 [§l competesit legal counsel Notwithstanding, .“[t]hé Sixth Amendment puarantees teasonable

. 18 [}l competence, not pesfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight. See’ Ba)! v Cone, 535
19 H'US. 685 at 702 (2002); Kinmelnan 0. Morrison, 477 U. S. 365, 382 (1986); ,ffﬂ:kland v
© 20 | Washington, 466 US 668, 689; United States v. Crowiz, 466 U. S, 648, 656 (1984).” Yarborongh,
21 | 2 Gontry, 540 U.S.'1, 8, 124 S.Ct. '1, 157 LEd.2d 1 (2063). "This court sincetely doubts that

22 |lf any defense attotney has ever conducted the perfect critinal trial
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Tual in this Court of 2 babeas petition is not an oiapoxmm'ty for a new counsel to
attempt to re-litigate a case in a diffetent manner, A habeas court “may not indulge in
hindsight: to reconstruct thg circumstances surtounding the challenged conduct, but must
evatuate the acts or omissions from trial counsel’s petspective at the time of trial” Beasky
Il 55 Commisioner of Corrsctions, 47 Conn, App. 253, 264, 704 A.2d 807 (1997, cert. den. 243
I Conn. 967, 707 A.2d 1268 (1998). “A fair assessment of an attorney's performance zequires
that every effort be made to eliminate t'he distorting effects of hindsipht, to reconstruct the
circumstances to counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's
petspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evalvation, a court
must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of
reasonable professional assistance.” Henry vs. Commissioner .cf Correction, 60 Conn. App. 313,
317, 759 A.2d 118 (2000). -

The petitioners have alleged that their ial defense counsel were jveffective in their
reptwénfaﬁon. Thxs Court disagrees, however. Despite the fact that this habeas Coust s
convinced with clear and convincing evidence that the petitioness arc act\'mlly innocent of
the chatges in this case and will grant relief oﬁ that basis, the Coutt does not find that the
trial defense counsel were in;.ffcct'tve. "There have been no acts of deficient performance
“ .pzov'en in this habeas trial. ‘The fact that Dorcen Stiles lied and kept that to herself for all of
ﬂxese, yeats does not mean that the original trial defense conngel were in any way guilty of
i : .

; deﬁcigﬂtpetfonaﬁaﬁce.
In regard to prejudice, the petitioner must show “thet thete js a teasonable probability

~

| thar, but fot counsel's 'unprofe'ssional etrots; the result of the proceeding would haye been
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1[I} different. A reasonable probability is proioabﬂity sufficient to undegmine confidence in the
2 W outcome.” Strickland, infra at 694, “To mount a successful collateral attack on his conviction,
3 [}l a prisoner must demonstrate a miscattiage of justice or other preiudice and not metely an
4 exror which might entile him to zelief on appeal. Hill n. United States, 368 U.S. 424, 428, éZ
5 Wl s.Cr. 468, 7 LEA.2d 417, reh. doied, 369 U.S. 808, 82 S.Ct. 640, 7 L.Ed2d 556 (1962).
6 N D' Amico v. Manson, 193 Conn. 144, 156-57, 476 A2d 543‘ (1984); see also Bowers v. Wardon,
7 |f| 19 Conn. App. 440, 441, 562 A.2d 588, cert. denied, 212 Conn. 817, 565 A.2d 534 (1989).
8 Il 1n order to demonstrate such a fundamental unfaimess or miscardage of justice, the
9 peﬁti.oner should be tequited to show that he is burdened by an uiwreliable conviction."
10 {Il (futemal quotation marks osnitted) Brskky ». Commirsioncr of Correotion, 222 Conn, 460-61.”
11 | Swmmzroille vs. Warden, sopra, 229 Conn. 419.
12 Given the significance of the recaated testimony of Doteen Stil'es and its high probability
13 lll to induce reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury, this Court finds that the reliability of
14 [fi the petitioner’s convietion has, indeed, been undetmined, However, this is #07 the result of
15 [l déficient petformance on the patt of the trial defense counsel, While it i;nakes for good
16 [} television drama for the tral a|t'tomey to copduct a withering. ctoss-examination of the
17 s;tate’s star witness who inevitably breaks down in a cathartic confession on the witness
18 |}l stand in open court, such scenes at;z tate, if nonexistent in the harsh reality of the
19. Jlf coutttoom. To be sute, there wete some facts available to the tual defense counsel that
20 W comld lead one to conclude that the testimony of boreen Stiles at the original tual was faise
'- because thetc simply was insufficient time to permit it to be true. Nevet;heleés, this,

21
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standing by itself, without the power of the recantation does not arise to the level of

deficient pesformance by trial defense counscl,

Th;is Court is aware of the “fact that in many cases an ordet for a new ttial may in teality
reward the accused with complete freedom from prosecution because of the debilitating
offect of the passage of time on the state’s evidence”  Summerville os. Warden, supra.
Furthermore, this Court understands that there is a strong societal interest “in not
degrading the propetly prominent place given to the otiginal trial as the forum for deciding
the question of guilt or innocence within the limits of human fallibility.” Jd. This Court
does not undestake to cast aside the verdict of a twelve-person jury except under.the most
compelling of citcumstances. Notwithstanding, there sitr;piy is no doubt in this Court’s
mind that the 1995 conviction of the petitioners is in ewwor because these two men are
actually jnnocent of this crime,

The respondent notes in his post trial brief that even if this Coutt concludes that Doteen
Stiles has lied at the petitioners’ crimisnal trial (as indeed it has), that this dv;)es not underimine
the reliability of the petitionets’ convictions. That s, in one riaﬁ:ow sense, ttue because not
only does the tecantationr by Doreen Stiles of her 19.93-95 testimony mean that the jury
convictions of Messers, Gould and Téylor ate totally untelizble, it also means that there was
70 evidence by which th.c.judg‘e_ that held the headng m. probable cause could h.ave concluded

that" they should be tried for mutdet in the first place; it meads that the arrest wartant

application signed by 2 judicial authority was without probable cause and sboulé have besn |

scjected; it means that the New Haven Police Department accused the wrong men and now
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.conceptions of the kind of criminal proceedings so fandamentally defective as to make

(1982), the root principle underlying ... [the federal statute governing habeas] is that
government in a civilized society must always be accountable for an individual's

imprisonment; if the imprisonment does not conform to the fundamenta) requirements of

law, the individual is entitled to his immediate release, Of coutse, the habeas cotpus relicf '

available undet [the fedcml statute] differs in many respects from jts common-law

countetpatt. Most significantly, the scope of the writ has been adjusted to meet changed

imprisonment under them unaccéptable. See, €. g, Moors v. Dempssy, 261 U.S. 86 (1923);
Johuson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938); Wa/y ». Jobnston, 316 U.S. 101 (1942); Brown ». Allen,
344 US, 443 (1953), Fay v. Nota, 372 U.S. 391 (1963).” Murrgy ». Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 516-
17,106 S.Ct. 2639 91 L.Ed.2d 397 (1986) (Bramarz, J., and Marshall, ]., dissenting).

Tn the instant matter, ap automatic stay of this coust’s judgment and ordess would negate

both the fundamental putpose of the Great Writ and have the effect of ‘ transfoiming

meaningful relief into further illegal confinement. The disposition of this case. as law and |

justice sequire, following this coutt’s full inquiry into the cause of imprisontnent, st result
in the immediate release of the petitioners, as thete Is no causc for nnpnsonmcnt As Justice
Cardozo so ¢loquently noted, “filt would be intolerable that a custodian adjudged to be-at
fault, placed by the- ]udgmcnt of the court in. the posmon of a wrongdoer, should
automatically, by a mere notice of appeal, ptolong the tetm of mpnsonment and fmstmte
the ope.mtioﬁ of the histotic wxit of Iiberty.” -People ex 1, Sabalmo.:/. Jennings, 246 N.Y. 258,
260, iSS_N,E. 613, 63 A.LR 1458. That court went on to «_ . hold that the notice of

13

appeal to this court s ineffective as a stay.” Td, at pg: 261.
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Similatly, this court explicitly holds that there is no automatic stay basting the petitionets’

9 Il immediate and unconditional release. General Statutes'§ 52-470 ().

3 The Petitions for a Wit of Habeas Corpus are, therefore, grantcd;. the sentences
4 {l imposéd by the court are sct agide and vacated; the verdicts of guilty shall be set
5 | aside and vacated; the results of the Hearing in Probable Cause binding the
6 |Il petitioners over for trial are vacated; and the atrest watrants ordering their arrest
7 Aéhall be vacated. The Commissioner of Correction is heteby ordered to Immediately

and unconditlonally release the petitionets from confinement. The coutt’s judgment
and orders ate, of cousse, subject to review in accordance with the law and
10 estabiished procedutes, &
11 It is so ordered.
12

13

A e,

14 S. T. Fuget, Jr.,, Judge
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